A Comparison of Residual Tree Mortality in Forest Island Remnants Following Wildfire and Harvest

by

Rosanise Odell

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Forest Biology and Management

Department of Renewable Resources University of Alberta

© Rosanise Odell, 2023

Abstract

As forested ecosystems are put under compounding stresses due to the effects of climate change and demand for resources, forest managers must develop innovative ways to utilize natural resources in less-impactful ways. In the boreal forests of Alberta, Ecosystem Based Forest Management (EBFM) is implemented is through emulation of natural disturbances such as wildfire using retention forestry to leave behind patches of intact forest during a harvest, called island remnants. Previous studies have compared residual tree mortality in dispersed retention or partial harvest to reference forests and clearcuts, but not against island remnants created by wildfires. The objectives of this study were the following: 1) examine the effects of disturbance type (fire and harvest) on post-disturbance tree mortality amounts in island remnants compared to reference forest; 2) determine if plots on forest edges experience higher post-disturbance mortality than plots located in the interior of these forests; 3) examine if certain tree species experience higher postdisturbance mortality rates and if this has any relation to disturbance type, island/reference plot or edge effects; 4) determine if tree size predicts mortality rates, and 5) assess if there are any temporal patterns of post-disturbance tree mortality following wildfire and harvest. Postdisturbance tree mortality was calculated by conducting stem surveys of each plot and tree cores were collected from standing snags for dendrochronological analysis. We determined the year of death for snags to determine if EBFM-created island remnants are functioning similarly to wildfire-created island remnants with respect to tree survival. Harvest created island remnants did not exhibit higher residual tree mortality than reference forest or similar sized fire island remnants, however edges of fire islands had higher mortality than fire reference edges. Aspen had overall higher mortality throughout the study area than spruce, and smaller sized trees also had a higher probability of mortality. These results support the continued implementation of retention forestry

using island remnants within the scope of EBFM in Alberta and may aid in promoting forest recovery and resilience following disturbances.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Charles Nock, for his mentorship, patience, and support throughout this process. Without your guidance, this thesis would not exist, and I appreciate the time, effort, and enthusiasm you've provided for the past two years as I've explored the world of forestry and academic research. Thank you to my committee member Dr. Ellen Macdonald for your expertise, feedback and direction with the methodology, dendrochronology and statistical analysis sections in particular. Thank you to the members of the Ecosystem Based Management Lab for the laughs, frustrations and successes we shared. Lance P. Moore, Marcus Sommers, Jessica Chaves Cardoso, and Marcel Schneider, I'm not sure I would have made it through this experience without the walks, fires, dinners and friendship from you all. Thank you to the field assistants of Summer 2021: Shannon O'Brien, Lily Steinke and Zach Olchowy–without you, research would not be possible. I will cherish the memories of the summer at Sunstone, the group meals, laughter, pranks, hotel water slides and game nights. Thank you to Allison Roth for your expertise and assistance with processing all my core samples and walking me through the dating process using an unfamiliar software; you were invaluable.

Thank you to the funding partners (Industrial Research Chair: West Fraser, Mercer Ltd., Alpac Industries, Weyerhauser, Canfor, Tolko) for the financial support, as well as the Alberta Conservation Association for the ACA Grant in Biodiversity for funding of a dendrochronology assistant for my work. Thank you to Michael Michaelian, Ted Hogg and especially Trisha Hook from NRCAN for sharing master chronology data with me to aid in my crossdating, as well as the guidance on dendrochronology and general tree core processing.

Thank you to my friends and family for your support and cheerleading as I navigated this crazy endeavor of moving to a new country in the middle of winter during a pandemic to pursue a graduate degree. To my parents and brother, thank you for your love and support from afar, I can feel your care and companionship throughout the distance. Thank you to Jess Breda and Christopher Warneke for your sound advice in navigating grad school and academia, thank you to Annie Stevens for the hundreds of hours we've likely spent on the phone debriefing, complaining, and celebrating every moment of this experience. Finally, thank you to my partner who has been such an integral part of my MSc, supporting me every step of the way and providing me with a sense of home and security so far from Salt Lake City.

Land Acknowledgement

The University of Alberta is located in Amiskwaciwâskahikan (Edmonton), the traditional lands of the Cree, Blackfoot, Métis, Nakota Sioux, Iriquois, Dene and Ojibway/Saulteaux/Anishinaabe nations; lands that are now part of Treaty 6 and 7 as well as the homeland of the Métis. I am grateful to have conducted field work for this research on the traditional lands of the Cree and Metis, situated in Treaties 6 and 7. These areas are traditional and contemporary lands of a variety of First Nations groups and the Métis people.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstractii
Acknowledgementsiv
List of Figures
List of Tables
Chapter 1: Introduction
Boreal Forest
Wildfire
Harvest
Edges
Tree Mortality
References
Chapter 2: A Comparison of Residual Tree Mortality in Forest Island Remnants Following
Wildfire and Harvest
Introduction 16
Objectives 19
Methods 20
Site Selection
Plot Setup & Data Collection 27
Dendrochronology 30
Statistical Analysis
Logistic Regression
Survival A polycic
Survival Allarysis
Legistic Model Duilding & Evaluation 20
Logistic Model Building & Evaluation Instance Spacing and Size Affect Tree Martality 41
No Tompored Dettoma of Dest Disturbance Tree Survival
No Temporal Patterns of Post-Disturbance Tree Survival
Discussion
Disturbances And Edge Effects on Tree Mortality
Individual Tree Covariates Affect Mortality 52
Additional Factors May Influence Tree Mortality
Estimating Year of Tree Death
Conclusions
Implications For Ecosystem-Based Management
Keterences
Appendix

List of Figures:

Figure 1: Map of study areas in North-Central Alberta	23
Figure 2: Zoomed in map of each of six study regions	24
Figure 3: Diagram of individual plot setup and orientations	27
Figure 4: Sketch of decay class 1 and 2 deciduous trees	29
Figure 5: Predicted tree mortality by plot location and disturbance type	42
Figure 6: Predicted tree mortality by tree species (a) and tree diameter (b)	44
Figure 7: Estimated marginal means tree mortality by disturbance and location	45
Figure 8: Survival curve of tree survival	46
Figure 9: Survival curves of tree survival by disturbance type (a) and plot location (b)	46
Figure 10: Survival curves of tree survival by tree species (a) and diameter (b)	47
Figure 11: Survival curves of aspen trees by diameter (a) and spruce trees by diameter (b)	48
Figure 12: Survival curve of spruce trees by disturbance type	48
Figure 13: Hazard ratio plot of each treatment in cox regression curve	49

List of Tables:

Table 1: Climate summary data for each region sampled	20
Table 2: Information on fires selected for study sites	26
Table 3: Information on harvest areas selected for study sites	26
Table 4: Aspen reference chronologies and CFS master chronologies	31
Table 5: Spruce reference chronologies and CFS master chronologies	32
Table 6: Aspen and spruce snags by decay class and post-disturbance year of death and	
mortality amounts used to determine undated trees pre- or post-disturbance deaths	33
Table 7: Plot-level attributes and summary statistics for aspen and spruce stem counts	38
Table 8: Plot-level mortality by disturbance type and location	39
Table 9: Logistic regression models	41
Table 10: Selected logistic regression model output	43

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Boreal forest

Spreading over 14 million km² in extent, the boreal forest accounts for one third of global forested area, making it one of the largest forest ecosystems on the planet (Burton et al., 2006; Perera and Buse, 2014). Thirty percent of the boreal forest is in Canada, which covers around 58% of the country's total land area (Burton et al., 2006). A substantial portion of the boreal forest in Canada is of mixedwood composition, a combination of broadleaf and coniferous trees with the structure and proportions of species varying across climatic and disturbance gradients (Bergeron et al., 2014). Broadleaf tree species include trembling aspen (*Populus tremuloides* Michx.) or balsam poplar (*Populus balsamifera* L.) in the West and paper birch (*Betula papifera* Marsh.) in the East; coniferous species are white spruce (*Picea glauca* (Moench.) Voss) or black spruce (*Picea mariana* (Mill.) Britton) in the West and often balsam fir (*Abies balsamea* [L.] Mill.) in the East (Bergeron et al., 2014).

Due to its size, the boreal forest contains one of the largest pools of carbon on Earth, making it a key biome in regulating the global carbon budget (Perera and Buse, 2014), as well as providing important economic, ecological and cultural goods and services (Brandt et al., 2013; Hassan et al., 2005). Boreal forests play a significant role in carbon storage and sequestration; additionally they help regulate regional climate through energy and water exchange, (Gauthier et al., 2015) are economically important for pulp and paper production, ecologically important as habitat and culturally significant to Indigenous groups (Perera and Buse, 2014). With increasing demand for natural resources, climate change ushering in warmer temperatures and drier conditions to the Northern Hemisphere (Hansen et al., 1996; Kasischke and Stocks, 2000), and an increase in frequency and severity of disturbances, specifically wildfires (Kasischke, 2000; Smith

et al., 1992), boreal forests are faced with increasing pressures and challenges to tree survival. An increase in fire frequency and severity will result in elevated tree mortality (Aakala et al., 2009) straining the resilience of this forest ecosystem.

Wildfire

Wildfires are a significant stand-replacing disturbance in both frequency and amount of area disturbed in Canadian forests (Weber and Flannigan, 1997). Boreal forests are susceptible to stand-replacing wildfire as a primary disturbance type due to long sunlight hours in the summer, low relative humidity levels, frequency of lightning storms, wax coated needles of coniferous trees and the duff layer of needles on the forest floor (Goldammer and Furyaev, 1996; Groeschl et al., 1992). Wildfires are often ignited in early spring by lightning or anthropogenic causes (Rowe and Scotter, 1973). Wildfire regimes in the Western boreal forests of Canada vary spatially due to natural regions and subregions, and prior to fire suppression a mosaic of varying-aged forest patches covered the landscape due to mixed-severity fire regimes (Rogeau et al., 2016). Sprucedominated forests generally experience high-intensity crown fires that occur roughly every 100 years, whereas mixedwood forests experience an even lower frequency of fires (Perera and Buse, 2014). The majority of total area burned by wildfires occurs from a few high-severity and largescale wildfires, rather than a high number of smaller fires (Kasischke, 2000; Perera and Buse, 2014). Wildfires are important as they influence forest age structure, species composition, landscape-scale diversity, and additional ecological processes (Goldammer and Furyaev, 1996; Perera and Buse, 2014). However, high severity wildfires cause significant tree mortality in boreal forests across the globe which contributes to over 180 Mt of carbon emissions each year (van der Werf et al., 2010).

Although wildfires cause substantial tree mortality events, they burn unevenly across landscapes and leave behind intact structural features including standing and fallen dead wood, multiple canopy layers, living trees, varied stem sizes and canopy gaps that contribute to forest regeneration (Kohm and Franklin, 1997a). Due to this spatial heterogeneity in fire behavior, wildfire residuals or island remnants are formed of intact forest, preserving pre-disturbance structures (Perera and Buse, 2014). The formation of island remnants is influenced by fire severity, topography, soil moisture, weather, vegetation and fuel loads and connectivity (Perera and Buse, 2014; Rowe and Scotter, 1973). In the boreal forest, island remnants of live trees and intact forest structure can comprise anywhere from three to 37 percent of total burned area (Eberhart and Woodard, 1987; Smyth et al., 2005). These island remnants are considered crucial to help forests recover from wildfires (Moussaoui et al., 2016). Live trees in disturbed landscapes provide seeds, help reduce soil erosion and preserve genetic diversity to aid in regeneration following disturbances (Dragotescu and Kneeshaw, 2012; Kohm and Franklin, 1997a; Perera and Buse, 2014). Remnants preserve old growth structures which provide habitat and refuge for wildlife and act as a lifeboat to connect landscapes across a disturbed area, foster biodiversity and promote forest recovery (Franklin et al., 1987; Moussaoui et al., 2016).

Harvest

Forests provide economic benefits to humans, including wood and related products from harvesting trees (Perera and Buse, 2014). In Canada, the forest sector accounts for over threehundred thousand jobs and over seventy-two billion dollars in annual revenue (Statistics Canada 2021; NRCAN 2022). However, harvesting trees using traditional commercial techniques (i.e., clearcutting) results in a simplified and homogenous forest structure which reduces closed-canopy and internal forest structure habitats and alters site characteristics that influence forest regrowth and regeneration, all of which can affect forest recovery following harvest (Gustafsson et al., 2012; Moussaoui et al., 2016).

In an effort to preserve heterogeneous forest structure, a variety of habitats, and promote successful forest regeneration following harvest, forestry practices have shifted to incorporate more ecologically sound forest management through retention forestry (Burton et al., 2006). During a harvest, forest managers intentionally leave uncut sections of forest within a cutblock (i.e., in-block retention) to maintain the supply of ecosystem services provided, promote biodiversity, increase public perception of harvesting, and enrich the structure and composition of postharvest forest (Gustafsson et al., 2012). Methods of retention include dispersed retention of single trees or clumps of trees, peninsular retention of a patch attached to an outer boundary edge or island retention of an undisturbed patch of forest within the harvest boundary (Timber Harvest Planning and Operating Ground Rules | Agriculture, Forestry and Rural Economic Development 2022 Government of Alberta). In Alberta, maintaining pre-disturbance retention patches or island remnants with structural complexity and old-growth characteristics in a variety of shapes and sizes aims to preserve biological legacies for wildlife and forest recovery following harvests (Timber Harvest Planning and Operating Ground Rules | Agriculture, Forestry and Rural Economic Development 2022 Government of Alberta).

In boreal forests, retention forestry aims to mimic large-scale natural disturbances that forests are adapted to and recover from to ensure forest survival for continued resource use and preservation of biodiversity (Grumbine, 1994; Gustafsson et al., 2012). Wildfires have a dominant influence on forest structure and dynamics in boreal ecosystems, therefore they are the disturbance type most often emulated in forest management practices in boreal forests (Dragotescu and Kneeshaw, 2012). With an aim to imitate the mosaic of forested landscape left behind following a wildfire, retention forestry within the scope of Ecosystem Based Forest Management leaves behind live trees in uncut forest via the creation of island remnants (Franklin et al., 2018; Gustafsson et al., 2012). Mimicking wildfire residual patches using retention forestry may be a key component to help preserve the structural complexity of forest stands and promote biodiversity (Moussaoui et al., 2016).

Nevertheless, the functioning of harvest-created island remnants as analogues for wildfire residuals in terms of forest structure, a source of living trees and vegetation for wildlife habitat has yet to be fully explored. A 2012 study in the boreal mixedwood of Quebec compared wildfire and harvest residuals and found harvest residuals were larger and more abundant compared to similar sites affected by fire, although characteristics such as proximity to water, spatial distribution, and topography of forests influenced both types of residuals (Dragotescu and Kneeshaw, 2012). That study also found that harvest residuals were overall more elongated in their shapes, and they therefore had a higher edge-to-forest ratio (Dragotescu and Kneeshaw, 2012). If there are differences in edge characteristics of island remnants depending on what type of disturbance they were created by, this may ultimately influence post-disturbance forest structure, resilience, and tree mortality.

Edges

Disturbances and subsequent tree mortality create forest edges throughout the landscape, which are characterized by the contrast of ecological characteristics between a forested landscape and surrounding non-forested areas (Harper et al., 2015). Edge influence is defined as the differences in structure, composition and/or function between forest edge and forest interior (Dodonov et al., 2013; Harper et al., 2005).

Forest edges are a natural part of the landscape in boreal forests due to the presence of lakes and wetlands as well as frequent natural disturbances such as wildfires and insect outbreaks (Harper et al., 2015). These edges can have positive effects on forest landscapes. Lack of vegetation at edges opens up the canopy which increases sunlight availability and exposed mineral soil to facilitate seedling recruitment (Harper et al., 2015). Forest edges are preferred habitat for edge-dwelling species (Schlossberg and King, 2008) as well as shade-intolerant species (Chen et al., 1992). Edges are more exposed to stronger winds and receive more visits from seed-dispersing animals, making edges important for seed dispersal and forest development between fragmented sites (Ranney, 1977).

However, changes at forest edges can deteriorate intact forest over time (Gascon et al., 2000; Laurance et al., 2002) through tree mortality, loss of interior forest habitat and homogenization of forest structure (Ecke et al., 2002). Edge characteristics such as loss of canopy cover, sudden exposure to light (Laurance et al., 1998) and increased wind exposure (Chen et al., 1992; Murcia, 1995) can raise the environmental and physiological stresses that remaining trees experience and increase risk of tree mortality (Murcia, 1995). Tree mortality within the first 10 m of forest edges may be higher than in interior forest and persist up to 16 years after edge creation (Harper and Macdonald, 2002). Tree mortality at forest edges has important implications for succession, as dead trees may not be replaced by individuals of the same species (Franklin et al., 1987), and edge effects are ultimately linked to forest species' declines (Murcia, 1995; Harper et al., 2005).

The majority of research on edge effects is focused on tropical and temperate forests; however, there is less work exploring edge effects in boreal forests (Harper et al., 2015). In contrast to tropical and temperate forests, boreal forest species may be less susceptible to edge effects due to frequent natural disturbances and the presence of natural edges from bodies of water (Gauthier et al., 2015; Harper et al., 2015). A common factor influencing forest edges is sunlight penetration because interior forest canopies normally block out significant amounts of solar radiation. Due to the high latitudes of the boreal forest region, lower solar angles may result in light penetration farther into interior forest, lessening the contrast of sunlight influence between edge and interior forests (Harper and Macdonald, 2002). Additionally, shorter canopy heights in boreal forests may result in reduced edge effects compared to temperate and tropical forests (Harper and Macdonald, 2002). A 2015 study found that edge influence on vegetation in boreal forests is generally weak, not very extensive and decreases over time (Harper et al., 2015). If boreal forests are less impacted by forest edges, there could be evidence to support continued resource use and harvesting in this ecosystem without concern for edge creation.

However, edges created by harvest may be different from naturally occurring edges, especially in the boreal forest. Complex fire boundaries create highly variable edges resulting in gradual transitions, whereas harvesting creates abrupt edges with harsher boundaries (Harper et al., 2015). Additionally, logging equipment can inadvertently injure living trees, causing crown damage, root compaction, and increasing stress that leads to high mortality at edges after a harvest (Thorpe et al., 2008). In fact, proximity to skid-trails and harvest edges is a direct predictor of post-harvest tree mortality (Thorpe et al., 2008). Trees at forest edges and close to clearcuts are more susceptible to death due to insect infestations and disease outbreaks which may develop following an increase in environmental stress (Ranney, 1977). Tree mortality at forest edges reduces canopy cover, increases abundance of snags and logs, exposes soil and results in lower shrub cover as compared to interior forest (Harper et al., 2005). It is unknown whether cut edges have a substantial

impact on forest response and tree mortality in boreal forests when compared directly to mortality responses in wildfire-created edges.

Tree mortality

From both an environmental and economic standpoint, tree mortality is an important forest response to disturbance. Tree mortality alters forest structure and facilitates regeneration (Aakala et al., 2009), can indicate ecosystem health, and affects forest stand yield projections (Franklin et al., 1987). Tree mortality is caused by a combination of factors, these can be biotic (disease or insect infestation) or abiotic (natural disturbances such as wildfire or drought, or anthropogenic causes such as harvesting, road construction or pollution) (Franklin et al., 1987). Light, water, and nutrient availability, as well as the complicated interactions between individual trees, environmental conditions, other species, and various agents of mortality can all affect the survival of trees (Franklin et al., 1987). Physiological stress from increased light or wind exposure due to the opening of a stand from harvest or other disturbances can increase the occurrence of standing dead mortality (Thorpe et al., 2008).

Tree mortality is a natural process in forests when tree death is occurring at stable or background rates (Franklin et al., 1987). In the boreal forests of Alberta, background tree mortality ranges between 1-3% per year depending on species (Bladon et al., 2008). Tree deaths provide habitat through the influx of snags and downed woody debris for cavity nesters and invertebrates (Gandhi et al., 2001; Jönsson et al., 2007), as well as for certain species that specialize in edge occupation (Schlossberg and King, 2008). Dead trees create an opening in the forest canopy which can facilitate regeneration through the increase in sunlight and exposed mineral soil (Harper et al., 2015), they also contribute downed wood for decomposition and nutrient cycling processes.

However, tree mortality has negative consequences as well, and these become concerning when tree mortality rates become elevated above background rates. In Canada, boreal forests often experience large scale/episodic tree mortality events due to wildfires (Aakala et al., 2009; Dragotescu and Kneeshaw, 2012). When trees die, they switch from being a carbon sink to a carbon source (Hogg and Michaelian, 2015), so elevated or episodic tree mortality becomes an important factor to consider with respect to climate change and global carbon emissions. Tree death may remove habitat for species that depend on full living canopies and products from living trees such as seeds, fruit and vegetation (Ecke et al., 2002). In the event of widespread tree mortality, forest species may be at risk of takeover by invasive species or an ecosystem shift. Understanding patterns and causes of tree mortality aids in protecting existing forests, calculating forest yields, and quantifying the effects of climate change on such a significant pool of organic carbon (Franklin et al., 1987; Perera and Buse, 2014). As the climate warms and dries and largescale natural disturbances become more frequent and severe in the boreal forest (Gauthier et al., 2015), an increase in tree mortality above background rates will influence carbon emissions, climate feedbacks and overall forest recovery and resilience.

The timing of tree mortality varies following large-scale disturbances. If a disturbance does not cause direct tree mortality, it may cause indirect mortality by weakening trees and making them more susceptible to insect attack or disease resulting in delayed mortality (Heikkala et al., 2014). Following light to moderate severity wildfire, burned stands initially leave a large number of trees left alive, but delayed tree mortality leads to an overall lower rate of tree survival than initially witnessed, postponing carbon emission release (Angers et al., 2011). If post-harvest island remnants exhibit a similar delay in residual tree mortality, retention forestry practices may not prove to be as successful in mitigating long-term tree mortality. However, there are indications

that residual post-fire tree survival may stabilize within a decade and trees alive ten years postdisturbance are strong enough for continued survival (Angers et al., 2011), yet it is unknown if this pattern of tree survival is replicated in post-harvest island remnants. Studying the timing of tree death following disturbance can elucidate the success of residual tree survival on a larger time scale.

Previous work in Western Canada has studied tree mortality responses to variable retention harvesting strategies (Solarik et al., 2012; Spence et al., 1999), including mortality due to interactions with tree-level characteristics and retention levels (Xing et al., 2018). One study directly compared dispersed retention tree survival to a "background mortality" in reference or "undisturbed forest stands" of similar species composition and stand age (Bladon et al., 2008), but the comparison of post-disturbance mortality rates in wildfire and harvest island remnants has yet to be explored. Due to the influence of wildfires, boreal forest landscapes contain a mosaic of forested areas, island remnants of live trees, and intact forest structure. Assessing differences or similarities in tree mortality responses in wildfire and harvest-created island remnants is a key component to widescale implementation of retention forestry and ecosystem-based management. This comparison allows isolation of disturbance effects on post-disturbance residual mortality, rather than comparing to tree mortality in undisturbed or reference forests.

Here, we examine tree mortality in island remnants created in wildfire and harvest disturbances, specifically with respect to temporal patterns of mortality, as well as the influence of individual tree characteristics on mortality such as species and size. Within these areas, we will also determine if there are significant edge effects on tree mortality compared to interior forest conditions. We expect to see temporal patterns of tree mortality with an increase in the first few years following disturbances, that different species and tree sizes will result in differing probabilities of mortality and that edges will experience higher tree mortality than interior forest. With the goal to assess the current practice of retention forestry in efforts to mimic wildfire across the boreal landscape, the results of this research will inform forest managers how to best preserve remnant forests for future resiliency and use. This study uses in-situ observations of island remnants created during harvest from 2009-2012 and compares them with similar-sized wildfire residuals from fires that burned 2010-2011 to quantify and explore post-disturbance tree mortality across North-Central Alberta.

References

- Aakala, T., Kuuluvainen, T., Wallenius, T., Kauhanen, H., 2009. Contrasting patterns of tree mortality in late-successional *Picea abies* stands in two areas in northern Fennoscandia. Journal of Vegetation Science 20, 1016–1026. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1654-1103.2009.01100.x
- Angers, V.A., Gauthier, S., Drapeau, P., Jayen, K., Bergeron, Y., 2011. Tree mortality and snag dynamics in North American boreal tree species after a wildfire: a long-term study. Int. J. Wildland Fire 20, 751–763. https://doi.org/10.1071/WF10010
- Bergeron, Y., Chen, H.Y.H., Kenkel, N.C., Leduc, A.L. and Macdonald, S.E., 2014. Boreal mixedwood stand dynamics: ecological processes underlying multiple pathways. For. Chron. 90, 202–213.
- Bladon, K.D., Lieffers, V.J., Silins, U., Landhäusser, S.M., Blenis, P.V., 2008. Elevated mortality of residual trees following structural retention harvesting in boreal mixedwoods. The Forestry Chronicle 84, 70–75. https://doi.org/10.5558/tfc84070-1
- Brandt, J.P., Flannigan, M.D., Maynard, D.G., Thompson, I.D. and Volney, W.J.A., 2013. An introduction to Canada's boreal zone: ecosystem processes, health, sustainability, and environmental issues. Environmental Reviews, 21(4), pp.207-226.
- Burton, P.J., Messier, C., Adamowicz, W.L., Kuuluvainen, T., 2006. Sustainable management of Canada's boreal forests: Progress and prospects. Écoscience 13, 234–248. https://doi.org/10.2980/i1195-6860-13-2-234.1
- Chen, J., Franklin, J.F., Spies, T.A., 1992. Vegetation Responses to Edge Environments in Old-Growth Douglas-Fir Forests. Ecological Applications 2, 387–396. https://doi.org/10.2307/1941873
- Dodonov, P., Harper, K., Silva Matos, D., 2013. The role of edge contrast and forest structure in edge influence: Vegetation and microclimate at edges in the Brazilian cerrado. Plant Ecology 214. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11258-013-0256-0
- Dragotescu, I., Kneeshaw, D., 2012. A comparison of residual forest following fires and harvesting in boreal forests in Quebec, Canada. Silva Fenn. 46. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.47
- Eberhart, K.E., Woodard, P.M., 1987. Distribution of residual vegetation associated with large fires in Alberta. Can. J. For. Res. 17, 1207–1212. https://doi.org/10.1139/x87-186
- Ecke, F., Löfgren, O., Sörlin, D., 2002. Population dynamics of small mammals in relation to forest age and structural habitat factors in northern Sweden. Journal of Applied Ecology 39, 781–792. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2664.2002.00759.x
- Franklin, J.F., Johnson, K.N., Johnson, D.L., 2018. Ecological Forest Management. Waveland Press.
- Franklin, J.F., Shugart, H.H., Harmon, M.E., 1987. Tree Death as an Ecological Process. BioScience 37, 550–556. https://doi.org/10.2307/1310665
- Gandhi, K.J.K., Spence, J.R., Langor, D.W., Morgantini, L.E., 2001. Fire residuals as habitat reserves for epigaeic beetles (Coleoptera: Carabidae and Staphylinidae). Biological Conservation 102, 131–141. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3207(01)00099-4
- Gascon, C., Williamson, G.B., da Fonseca, G.A.B., 2000. Receding Forest Edges and Vanishing Reserves. Science 288, 1356–1358. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.288.5470.1356
- Gauthier, S., Bernier, P., Kuuluvainen, T., Shvidenko, A.Z., Schepaschenko, D.G., 2015. Boreal forest health and global change. Science. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaa9092

- Goldammer, J.G., Furyaev, V.V., 1996. Fire in Ecosystems of Boreal Eurasia: Ecological Impacts and Links to the Global System, in: Goldammer, Johann Georg, Furyaev, Valentin V. (Eds.), Fire in Ecosystems of Boreal Eurasia, Forestry Sciences. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, pp. 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-015-8737-2
- Groeschl, D.A., Johnson, J.E., Smith, D.W., 1992. Early Vegetative Response to Wildfire in a Table Mountain-Pitch Pine Forest. Int. J. Wildland Fire 2, 177–184. https://doi.org/10.1071/wf9920177
- Grumbine, R.E., 1994. What Is Ecosystem Management? Conservation Biology 8, 27–38. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.1994.08010027.x
- Gustafsson, L., Baker, S.C., Bauhus, J., Beese, W.J., Brodie, A., Kouki, J., Lindenmayer, D.B., Lõhmus, A., Pastur, G.M., Messier, C., Neyland, M., Palik, B., Sverdrup-Thygeson, A., Volney, W.J.A., Wayne, A., Franklin, J.F., 2012. Retention Forestry to Maintain Multifunctional Forests: A World Perspective. BioScience 62, 633–645. https://doi.org/10.1525/bio.2012.62.7.6
- Hansen, J., Ruedy, R., Sato, M., Reynolds, R., 1996. Global surface air temperature in 1995: Return to pre-Pinatubo level. Geophysical Research Letters 23, 1665–1668. https://doi.org/10.1029/96GL01040
- Hassan, R., Scholes, R. and Ash, N., 2005. Ecosystems and human well-being: current state and trends.
- Harper, K., Macdonald, S., 2002. Structure and Composition of Edges Next to Regenerating Clear-Cuts in Mixed-Wood Boreal Forest. Aspen Bibliography 13. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1654-1103.2002.tb02080.x
- Harper, K.A., Macdonald, S.E., Burton, P.J., Chen, J., Brosofske, K.D., Saunders, S.C., Euskirchen, E.S., Roberts, D., Jaiteh, M.S., Esseen, P.-A., 2005. Edge Influence on Forest Structure and Composition in Fragmented Landscapes. Conservation Biology 19, 768–782. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2005.00045.x
- Harper, K.A., Macdonald, S.E., Mayerhofer, M.S., Biswas, S.R., Esseen, P.-A., Hylander, K., Stewart, K.J., Mallik, A.U., Drapeau, P., Jonsson, B.-G., Lesieur, D., Kouki, J., Bergeron, Y., 2015. Edge influence on vegetation at natural and anthropogenic edges of boreal forests in Canada and Fennoscandia. Journal of Ecology 103, 550–562. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.12398
- Heikkala, O., Suominen, M., Junninen, K., Hämäläinen, A., Kouki, J., 2014. Effects of retention level and fire on retention tree dynamics in boreal forests. Forest Ecology and Management 328, 193–201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2014.05.022
- Hogg, E.H., Michaelian, M., 2015. Factors affecting fall down rates of dead aspen (Populus tremuloides) biomass following severe drought in west-central Canada. Global Change Biology 21, 1968–1979. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12805
- Jönsson, M.T., Fraver, S., Jonsson, B.G., Dynesius, M., Rydgård, M., Esseen, P.-A., 2007. Eighteen years of tree mortality and structural change in an experimentally fragmented Norway spruce forest. Forest Ecology and Management 242, 306–313. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2007.01.048
- Kasischke, E.S., 2000. Boreal Ecosystems in the Global Carbon Cycle, in: Kasischke, E.S., Stocks, B.J. (Eds.), Fire, Climate Change, and Carbon Cycling in the Boreal Forest, Ecological Studies. Springer, New York, NY, pp. 19–30. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-21629-42

- Kasischke, E.S., Stocks, B.J., 2000. Introduction, in: Kasischke, E.S., Stocks, B.J. (Eds.), Fire, Climate Change, and Carbon Cycling in the Boreal Forest, Ecological Studies. Springer, New York, NY, pp. 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-21629-4_1
- Kohm, K.A., Franklin, J.F., 1997. Creating a Forestry for the 21st Century: The Science Of Ecosytem Management. Island Press.
- Laurance, W.F., Ferreira, L.V., Rankin-de Merona, J.M., Laurance, S.G., 1998. Rain Forest Fragmentation and the Dynamics of Amazonian Tree Communities. Ecology 79, 2032– 2040. https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(1998)079[2032:RFFATD]2.0.CO;2
- Laurance, W.F., Lovejoy, T.E., Vasconcelos, H.L., Bruna, E.M., Didham, R.K., Stouffer, P.C., Gascon, C., Bierregaard, R.O., Laurance, S.G., Sampaio, E., 2002. Ecosystem Decay of Amazonian Forest Fragments: a 22-Year Investigation. Conservation Biology 16, 605– 618. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.2002.01025.x
- Moussaoui, L., Fenton, N.J., Leduc, A., Bergeron, Y., 2016. Can Retention Harvest Maintain Natural Structural Complexity? A Comparison of Post-Harvest and Post-Fire Residual Patches in Boreal Forest. Forests 7, 243. https://doi.org/10.3390/f7100243
- Murcia, C., 1995. Edge Effects in Fragmented Forests: Implications for Conservation. Trends in ecology & evolution 10, 58–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-5347(00)88977-6
- Perera, A., Buse, L., 2014. Ecology of Wildfire Residuals in Boreal Forests. John Wiley & Sons.
- Ranney, J.W., 1977. Forest island edges: their structure, development, and importance to regional forest ecosystem dynamics. Oak Ridge National Lab.(ORNL), Oak Ridge, TN
- Rogeau, M.-P., Flannigan, M.D., Hawkes, B.C., Parisien, M.-A., Arthur, R., Rogeau, M.-P., Flannigan, M.D., Hawkes, B.C., Parisien, M.-A., Arthur, R., 2016. Spatial and temporal variations of fire regimes in the Canadian Rocky Mountains and Foothills of southern Alberta. Int. J. Wildland Fire 25, 1117–1130. https://doi.org/10.1071/WF15120
- Rowe, J.S., Scotter, G.W., 1973. Fire in the Boreal Forest. Quaternary Research 3, 444–464. https://doi.org/10.1016/0033-5894(73)90008-2
- Schlossberg, S., King, D.I., 2008. Are Shrubland Birds Edge Specialists. Ecological Applications 18, 1325–1330. https://doi.org/10.1890/08-0020.1
- Smith, T.M., Shugart, H.H., Bonan, G.B. and Smith, J.B., 1992. Modeling the potential response of vegetation to global climate change. Advances in ecological research (Vol. 22, pp. 93-116). Academic Press.
- Smyth, C., Schieck, J., Boutin, S., Wasel, S., 2005. Influence of stand size on pattern of live trees in mixedwood landscapes following wildfire. The Forestry Chronicle 81, 125–132. https://doi.org/10.5558/tfc81125-1
- Solarik, K.A., Volney, W.J.A., Lieffers, V.J., Spence, J.R., Hamann, A., 2012. Factors affecting white spruce and aspen survival after partial harvest. Journal of Applied Ecology 49, 145– 154. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2011.02089.x
- Spence, J.R., Volney, W.J.A., Weber, M.G., Lieffers, V.J., Luchkow, S.A., Vinge, T.W., 1999. The Alberta EMEND project : recipe and cooks` argument.
- Thorpe, H.C., Thomas, S.C., Caspersen, J.P., 2008. Tree mortality following partial harvests is determined by skidding proximity. Ecological Applications 18, 1652–1663. https://doi.org/10.1890/07-1697.1
- van der Werf, G.R., Randerson, J.T., Giglio, L., Collatz, G.J., Mu, M., Kasibhatla, P.S., Morton, D.C., DeFries, R.S., Jin, Y., van Leeuwen, T.T., 2010. Global fire emissions and the contribution of deforestation, savanna, forest, agricultural, and peat fires (1997–2009). Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics 10, 11707–11735. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-10-11

- Weber, M.G., Flannigan, M.D., 1997. Canadian boreal forest ecosystem structure and function in a changing climate: impact on fire regimes. Environ. Rev. 5, 145–166. https://doi.org/10.1139/a97-008
- Xing, D., Nielsen, S.E., Macdonald, S.E., Spence, J.R., He, F., 2018. Survival and growth of residual trees in a variable retention harvest experiment in a boreal mixedwood forest. Forest Ecology and Management 411, 187–194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2018.01.026

CHAPTER 2: A COMPARISON OF RESIDUAL TREE MORTALITY IN FOREST ISLAND REMNANTS FOLLOWING WILDFIRE AND HARVEST

Introduction

Forests are adapted to natural disturbance regimes, which drive ecosystem dynamics and cause tree mortality (Franklin et al., 2002; Kuuluvainen and Aakala, 2011; Thorpe et al., 2008). These disturbances are important in maintaining forest heterogeneity, (Franklin et al., 1987), providing a variety of habitat types for wildlife (Franklin et al., 2002), and preserving predisturbance continuous forest structure, including old growth structure (Moussaoui et al., 2016). In the boreal forest, stand-replacing wildfire is the main natural disturbance that affects the landscape (Johnson and Johnson, 1996; Payette, 1992).

A cause of widespread tree mortality (Johnson and Johnson, 1996), wildfires burn unevenly across the landscape, resulting in intact, unburned forest patches that are surrounded by a burned area (Perera and Buse, 2014). These patches of forest are called wildfire residuals or island remnants, and they offer habitat and refuge for biodiversity (Moussaoui et al., 2016). Additionally, these remnants aid in natural regeneration processes by providing seeds from live trees (Perera and Buse, 2014), preserving genetic diversity, and helping forests retain heterogeneous structure (Dragotescu and Kneeshaw, 2012). Due to these attributes, island remnants are thought to be crucial for forest recovery following wildfire (Moussaoui et al., 2016).

Wildfire is the most influential disturbance in the boreal forest (Bergeron et al., 1998), but anthropogenic disturbances–specifically harvest–also affect the overall structure of forested landscapes. Traditional forest management practices (i.e. clearcutting) result in the simplification of forest structure and even-aged stands, and decrease availability of various habitats for species that utilize old growth forest structure (Moussaoui et al., 2016). Whereas wildfires leave behind diverse structural features including standing and fallen dead wood, multiple canopy layers, varied stem sizes and canopy gaps that aid in forest regeneration (Kohm and Franklin, 1997), the homogenous forest structure left following clearcut harvest can be much more detrimental to forest recovery (Gustafsson et al., 2012).

With a goal of managing forests for multiple values, forest management has moved towards preserving complex forest structure. In addition to harvesting trees for wood and related products, modern goals of forest management include maintaining heterogeneous forest structure, preserving habitat for wildlife, minimizing incidental tree mortality, and promoting biodiversity (Kohm and Franklin, 1997; Moussaoui et al., 2016). As an alternative to resource-intensive extractive practices, the concept of Ecosystem Based Management was developed to protect ecological integrity for the future while also providing goods and services for humans (Grumbine, 1994). Within the scope of modern forest management, this involves moving away from clearcutting towards a form of structural retention.

In the boreal forest, retention forestry aims to mimic the mosaic of forested landscape left following a wildfire by leaving live trees or patches of uncut forest via the creation of island remnants (Gustafsson et al., 2012). These island remnants are thought to maintain the supply of ecosystem services, foster biodiversity, increase public perception of harvesting, and enrich the structure and composition of post-harvest forest (Kohm and Franklin, 1997; Gustafsson et al., 2012). Although retention aims to create island remnants that resemble those created by wildfires, there are noted differences between these disturbances and their effects on the landscape. Wildfires cause specific impacts on soils and habitats, and serotinous species rely on fire and heat to regenerate–characteristics that are missing in a harvest setting (Heikkala et al., 2014). As a disturbance, harvest leaves less coarse woody debris, more homogenous vertical vegetation structure and reduced soil microsite exposure for germination compared to wildfires (Mulverhill et al., 2019). In addition, forest edges created by anthropogenic disturbances such as harvest have been shown to be functionally different from naturally created edges, resulting in variation in forest structure, understory plant composition and tree mortality (Harper et al., 2015).

Research in Eastern Canada (Quebec) on post-disturbance residual tree mortality revealed temporal patterns of tree death in plots monitored ten years after wildfire. Following wildfire, most tree mortality occurs within the first few years following disturbance but can range between 40-55% in cumulative mortality up to ten years after fire—this potential for delayed residual tree mortality following wildfire may lead to a considerably lower rate of tree survival over time (Angers et al., 2011). A study in Western Canada (Alberta) found that after harvesting, tree mortality at the edge of intact forest spiked within the first year after harvest at a 10% mortality rate compared to 5% the second year, likely due to wind exposure and windthrow mortality (Harper and Macdonald, 2002). These studies reveal that considering post-disturbance mortality throughout time is important to account for delayed tree mortality, because if island remnants experience heightened or continuous mortality, retention forestry practices may not be functioning as intended by providing live trees for habitat and preserving heterogenous forest structure.

Previous research has compared harvest island remnant tree mortality to reference forest or clearcuts (Bladon et al., 2008; Spence et al., 1999), but the direct comparison to tree mortality in island remnants created by wildfires has yet to be explored (Gandhi et al., 2004; Moussaoui et al., 2016). Overall, understanding the dynamics of tree mortality in island remnants created by both wildfire and harvest can reveal residual tree response to disturbances and determine the success of forest recovery. Monitoring residual tree mortality in created island remnants will help evaluate the effectiveness of this form of retention forestry and identify areas to prioritize for retention to ensure tree survival.

Objectives

This study compared post-disturbance tree mortality between wildfire and harvest island remnants. We quantified overall amounts of tree mortality with a focus on standing dead trees, as well as temporal patterns of tree mortality up to twelve years following the disturbances. Additionally, we measured tree mortality in edge and interior forest of both island remnants and reference forests to determine if tree mortality was higher at forest edges, if disturbance type influenced edge effects on tree mortality, and further if island remnant edges experienced higher mortality than reference forest edges.

These results can be used to inform future forest management practices and determine if retention forestry in the form of island retention results in high or similar amounts of postdisturbance residual tree mortality compared to similar sized wildfire island remnants. Specifically, our objectives were to 1) determine if there was a difference in post-disturbance mortality between wildfire and harvest created island remnants, 2) assess if there are any temporal patterns of post-disturbance tree mortality following wildfire and harvest, and 3) quantify if edge effects influenced mortality in island remnants and if there were differences in edge effects based on disturbance type. We integrated additional variables such as tree species, individual tree diameter and total plot basal area into our analysis to determine if those factors affected individual tree mortality. If there is a difference in tree mortality between fire and harvest created island remnants, the suitability of those remnants will be questioned as analogues for fire residuals. This will help determine the efficacy of implementing Ecosystem Based Management in harvesting protocols compared with natural disturbance caused tree mortality.

Methods

Site Selection

Research sites were located in North-Central Alberta in mixedwood boreal forest stands,

in the Boreal Plains Ecozone (Canadian Council on Ecological Areas 2014). The climate in this

area is characterized by long, cold winters and short, warm summers (National Ecological

Framework of Canada, 1999). Climate variables for each region can be found in Table 1.

Table 1: Mean annual precipitation, mean annual temperature, and average number of frost-freedays in each study region. All areas were boreal forest natural regions, with natural subregionslisted.Government of Alberta Historical Climate Data from 1997-2021,https://acis.alberta.ca/weather-data-viewer.jsp and "Natural Regions and Subregions of Alberta"from the Government of Alberta, "Derived Ecosite Phase" November 2020.

Geographic Region	Natural Subregion	Climate Station	Mean annual precip (mm)	Mean annual temp (°C)	Number of Frost-Free Days
Mercer Peace River	Dry mixedwood	Three Creeks AGCM	394.24	1.66	119.5
Mercer Harmon Valley	Central mixedwood	Kimiwan Auto	436.22	1.94	114.3
Alpac	Central mixedwood & Lower boreal highlands	Round Hill Auto	473.15	1.74	116.9
Utikuma Fire	Central mixedwood	Whitefish Auto	433.29	1.76	109.4
Flattop Fire	Central mixedwood & Lower foothills	Slave Lake	465.64	2.08	122.4
M024 Fire	Central mixedwood & Lower boreal highlands	Algar Auto	493.97	1.18	113.7

Potential field sites were identified using geospatial data including Alberta Vegetation Inventory (AVI) provided by partners of the NSERC Industrial Research Chair in Ecosystembased Forest Management, aerial imagery and baselayers from ArcGIS and Google Earth, as well as provincial and national datasets of dNBR (delta Normalized Burn Ratio) raster layers and historical fire perimeters from open-source databases (Alberta Agriculture and Forestry 2021; Natural Resources Canada 2021). The AVI data (2020) included information on dominant tree species composition, stand structure and stand age. In cases where AVI data were older than disturbance year or incomplete, patches of living trees or cutblocks were digitized at a 5 m resolution once species compositions were determined. Locations of salvage logging and remnant island polygons were provided by industry partners Alberta-Pacific Forest Industries (Alpac), Mercer International Inc., Tolko Industries Ltd. and West Fraser; selected sites in wildfire areas avoided salvage logging.

Mixedwood forest was defined as containing a mix of deciduous (mainly *Populus tremuloides* or *Populus balsamifera*, but sometimes *Betula spp*.) and coniferous (usually *Picea glauca* or *Picea mariana*) trees. We selected deciduous dominated stands with at least 70% composition of *P. tremuloides* or *P. balsamifera*, and *P. balsamifera* occurred intermittently compared to *P. tremuloides*. Additional canopy tree species present in study plots included *Abies balsamea*, *Pinus banksiana* and *Pinus contorta*, although these occurrences were minimal overall—less than 6% of total stems in sampling areas.

All sites were disturbed by fire or harvest within the past 9-12 years (between 2009-2012), because older disturbances would make tree mortality sampling and coring difficult due to decayed wood and because harvesting strategies have remained consistent for the past decade. The fires selected were SWF056 Flattop Complex, near Lesser Slave Lake, SWF057 Utikuma Complex north of Utikuma Lake and MWF024 Complex, south of Fort McMurray, AB (Table 2). Harvest sites were selected from the Mercer FMA near Peace River, AB and Harmon Valley, AB, and Alpac FMA between Lac La Biche and Fort McMurray, AB (Table 3).

Based on criteria such as stand composition, island size, shape and accessibility, a reduced pool of sites was selected. These field sites were scouted prior to data collection for accessibility, to confirm canopy species composition, and install microclimate sensors. Sites were determined to be reasonably accessible if they were within an hour's hike from the truck one-way. Once sites were scouted in person and confirmed to match selection criteria, we took GPS points to confirm locations of sites and finalize site selection (Figs. 1 & 2).



Figure 1: study areas in North-Central Alberta, north of Edmonton by roughly 200-450km. Region denotes the geographic area of each disturbance: Harvests in Mercer Peace River, Mercer Harmon Valley and Alpac, and fires in Flattop, Utikuma and M024. GPS coordinates for field sites are listed in Appendix Table A3.



Figure 2: detailed view of study sites by Region: Alpac, Mercer Harmon Valley and Mercer Peace River are harvest regions, M024, Flattop and Utikuma are fire regions. Wildfire perimeters are outlined in red.

There were two types of locations sampled: island remnants and references. Island remnants were defined as an assemblage of trees mostly or completely unaffected by disturbance but surrounded by a disturbed area. Reference sites were intact forest not affected by the disturbance but bordered by disturbance along one edge, at least 200m in width and spatially located near selected island sites. In the event that island remnants were bordered by a seismic line, road, or other type of linear disturbance, plots were established, and sampling occurred on the far side of the island remnant away from the linear disturbance. Island remnants were selected to be at least 0.45 ha to ensure interior forest conditions for interior plots, and maximum island size selection was bound by the island size distributions of both fire and harvest islands; with a goal of comparing similar island sizes between disturbance types.

Each island remnant and reference stand had two plots: an edge and interior, placed directly adjacent to each other with edges of each circular plot touching (Fig. 3). The absence of cut stumps in post-harvest sites or scorch marks in post-fire sites indicated where each disturbance ended and the forested edge of either island remnant or reference forest began. Edge plots were established at the outer edge of island remnants and references. Interior plots were measured to be 20m into the interior of each forest stand from the inside border of edge plots. To maintain interior forest conditions, in misshapen islands or in cases of interfering linear disturbances, interior plots were offset and not directly adjacent to interior plots.

Table 2: Fires selected for field sites with corresponding year of fire, stand origin year for the unburned reference or island remnant (stand origin year accessed from AVI data), the number of island and references from within each fire and the total burn extent of the fire.

Fire Name	Year of Fire	Stand origin year	# Islands	# References	Burn extent
Flattop Complex (SWF056)	2011	1920, 1948, 1941, 1880	6	6	22,000 ha
Utikuma Complex (SWF057)	2011	1910, 1930, 1940	4	4	90,000 ha
M024 (MWF024)	2009	1930, 1950	3	2	11,500 ha

Table 3: Harvest areas selected for field sites with corresponding year of harvest, stand origin years for the unharvested reference or island remnant, (stand origin year accessed from AVI data) the number of island and references from within each harvest area and corresponding FMA holder.

Harvest Area	Year of disturbance	Stand origin year	# Islands	# References	FMA Holder
Mercer Peace River	2009, 2010	1900, 1930, 1960	3	2	Mercer Ltd.
Mercer Harmon Valley	2010	1920, 1930, 1940	5	5	Mercer Ltd.
Alpac	2009, 2010, 2012	1880, 1860, 1920, 1930, 1950, 1945	4	4	Alberta-Pacific Industries



Figure 3: Field plot setup of edge and interior plots in island remnant and reference stands. The four plots in each pairing of island remnant and reference forest (Island Edge, Island Interior, Reference Edge, Reference Interior) are considered a "Location".

Plot Setup & Data Collection

Data were collected in the summer (June-September) of 2021 from circular plots with a radius of 11.28 m (400 m² in area). This design follows plot dimensions used for the Alberta Growth & Yield Initiative (2015). In each circular plot all standing live and dead trees measuring at least 9.1 cm diameter at breast height (1.3 m, dbh) were identified, tagged, and measured following the sampling protocol of Alberta Growth & Yield Initiative Permanent Sampling Plots (2015). Any damage to live or dead trees (bole scars, fruiting fungal bodies, dead top, broken top) was noted as a damage code.

Standing dead trees were assigned a decay class using Alberta Biodiversity Monitoring Institute (ABMI) Terrestrial Field Protocols (ABMI Terrestrial Field Protocols 2019), and additional literature sources. Decay classifications may point to an estimated range of time since tree death based on visual characteristics of dead trees, therefore we used decay class as an estimate of whether trees died in response to, or prior to, target disturbances of interest (the fire or harvest, occurring from 2009-2012). ABMI defines decay class 1 snags as recently killed, with all twigs/branches present, wood hard, and bark (normally) intact, and decay class 2 snags retaining major branches but with twigs and small branches missing, with hard/solid wood (see Fig. 4 for example) (ABMI Terrestrial Field Protocols 2019). Recently dead aspen and spruce trees commonly retain their bark and fine branches, and these traits point to a tree death of ten years or less (Angers et al., 2012, 2011). Smithsonian ForestGEO (Forest Global Earth Observatory) deadwood protocols (Janík et al., n.d.) define Class 1 snags as freshly dead (0–5 years for many species) with the species still recognizable; branches of 3rd order present; and full height of stem is present unless there was prior damage, and with bark fully intact. Based on these traits, we made a conservative estimate that decay class 1 and 2 snags may have died in response to disturbances and snags of these decay classes were favored for further sampling—see below.

In each plot, standing snags (with a particular focus on snags classified as decay class 1 and 2) >9.1 cm dbh were cored with an increment borer (Haglof Increment Borer, 5.1 mm diameter, Sweden) twice, the two samples were taken at 90 degrees from each other or wherever the most solid wood was on the bole at roughly 1.3 m (dbh) from the ground. An effort was made to collect core samples from most if not all the decay class 1 and 2 snags, but tree cores were also collected from a smaller sample of decay class 3 and 4 snags to determine year of tree death in later decay classes. In cases where there were multiple snags of the same decay class, tree species and dbh class within 2-3 cm and generally located in similar areas of the plot, a subsample of snags (roughly three-quarters of dead aspen and spruce in decay class 1 and 2) were cored because coring all dead trees in each plot would limit replication across plots due to time constraints. In some cases, wood was too decayed to sample (e.g., wood consistency was powdery or slimy depending on moisture content). These cases of severely decayed wood were seen in snag decay class 3 and
4, indicating that they likely died many years prior to the disturbances of interest in this study. Dating downed trees to capture windthrow-caused mortality and related temporal patterns was outside the scope of this study. However, a companion study (Moore 2022, unpublished) provided decay classes for downed woody debris, here we assume similarly for standing dead that decay class 1 and 2 represent post-disturbance mortality, allowing us to speak to overall mortality including both standing and downed dead trees. Further, data collected on the species makeup of recent deadwood showed a higher proportion of aspen downed trees than spruce, although spruce trees are more likely to be blown down as a mechanism of tree death and aspen are more likely to die standing (Bladon et al., 2008). This allows us to address the question of differences in species amounts and corresponding mechanism of tree death, even though downed dead trees were not specifically measured in this study (Fig. A1 Appendix).



Figure 4: sketch of decay class 1 and 2 deciduous trees, decay class 1 snags still have fine branches and bole surface is covered in bark, decay class 2 has fewer fine branches (2nd order branches still present) but may be missing some bark on bole surface. Drawing by Lana Mrochuk.

Dendrochronology

Dendrochronology was used to confirm post-disturbance tree deaths and reveal the accuracy of decay classification with respect to tree death, as well as provide information on the temporal occurrence of post-disturbance tree mortality. After collection, tree cores were placed in labeled straws, bark side inserted first and stapled shut with holes added for ventilation to prevent mold growth. After air drying, tree cores were glued to wooden mounts, sanded using progressively finer grit sandpaper (from 180-1000 grit depending on tree species), scanned at 2400 dpi resolution and analyzed. The dendrochronology lab at the University of Alberta was used to process samples according to standard dendrochronological techniques (Stokes and Smiley, 1968) and tree rings were cross dated using CDendro software (Cybis Elektronik & Data AB, <u>www.cybis.se</u>, Lars-Åke Larsson 2021). Tree rings were measured to the nearest 0.001 mm.

Reference chronologies of each tree species in each region were developed using cores sampled at the same study sites from living canopy trees. One mature live tree >9.1 cm dbh of each species per island/reference pair was cored using the same protocol to create a reference chronology to compare tree rings based on living growth patterns. Additionally, master chronologies for *P. tremuloides* (trembling aspen) and *P. glauca* (white spruce) were accessed from the Climate Impacts on Productivity and Health of Aspen/Spruce (CIPHA/CIPHS) plot network (CFS, Mike Michaelian & Trisha Hook) to aid with dating of aspen and spruce samples and compare reference chronologies against (Tables 4 & 5). Reference chronologies from CIPHA and CIPHS plots contained around 200 samples per site. Samples from dead trees were crossdated against reference chronologies using correlation values from the proportion of the last two years of growth limited, as this limits the influence of narrow rings in core samples based on the standard deviation of the reference chronology curve (Cybis Elektronik & Data AB, <u>www.cybis.se</u>, Lars-

Åke Larsson 2021). Year of tree death was determined to be the year the last growth ring was produced by the tree. When correlation values of individual samples compared to reference chronologies were higher than 0.3, they were considered robust enough for an accurate dating of year of death. In the event that the two core samples for one individual tree differed in their determined year of death, the sample with the highest correlation value, more complete core and better match with reference chronology marker years was selected as the correctly dated sample. Additional factors considered when finalizing year of tree death included assigned decay class and sampling region. Tree mortality for each plot was determined by comparing the number of trees that died following the disturbance to total stems in each plot.

Table 4: Aspen reference chronologies created from experimental field sampling compared with master chronologies provided by the Canadian Forest Service CIPHA plots. CFS master chronologies for aspen date from 1936-2020, depending on sampling area. Marker years indicated are for reference chronologies created from this experiment, bolded years indicate matching between experimental and CFS chronologies.

Samplin	g Site	CFS Site	Correlation	Marker Years
Mercer River	Peace	NOT	0.58	1961-1962, 1982, 1995, 2013, 2016
Mercer Valley	Harmon	RED	0.4	1983 peak, 1999, 2002, 2013, 2016, 2019
Alpac		CAL	0.27	1980, 1999 , 2007
Utikuma		RED	0.43	1990, 2005, 2014, 2015-2016 , 2019, 2020
Flattop		CAL	0.25	1978, 1981-1982, 1983, 1989, 1996, 2000, 2006, 2011
M024		NOT	0.29	2000, 2001 , 2003, 2007, 2017, 1971 and 1981

Table 5: Spruce reference chronologies created from experimental field sampling compared with master chronologies provided by the CFS. CFS master chronologies for spruce date from 1860-2019 depending on sampling area. Marker years indicated are for reference chronologies created from this experiment, bolded years indicate matching between experimental and CFS chronologies.

Samplin	g Site	CFS Site	Correlation	Marker Years
Mercer River	Peace	HAI	0.4	1999, 2000, 2002, 2003, 2004
Mercer Valley	Harmon	HAI	0.67	1982, 2002, 2003, 2011, 2013
Alpac		ANZ	0.23	1962 , 1975, 1993, 1994, 2014, 2015, 2017
Utikuma	Ļ	HAI	0.49	2000, 2001, 2003, 2004
Flattop		MAR	0.26	2002 , 2005, 2015
M024		HAI/MAN/MAR	0.52/0.48/0.42	2002, 2003, 2004

Seventy-five percent of dead trees were aspen or spruce, and over 85% of all stems were aspen or spruce. Due to the large majority of trees being aspen and spruce, and because these species are economically important, statistical analysis focused on these species. Of dead trees decay class 1 and 2, a subsample of 72% of dead aspen and 72% of dead spruce trees were cored to determine year of tree death for survival analysis, selection of trees to core was determined by a random selection of similar sized trees in the same decay class and species. The mean year of death for dated decay class 1 aspen trees was 2010 and decay class 1 spruce trees was 2009 (Table 6). For undated dead trees, the visual decay classification was converted to a pre- or post-disturbance death based on year of death from dated samples of the same species, with the same assigned decay class and considering the distribution of tree diameters of dated dead trees (Table 6). Of the uncored dead trees, selected trees of differing diameters were assigned a

post-disturbance death based on the proportion of dated dead trees across diameters, so that

proportions of dead trees by tree diameter were maintained between cored and total dead trees.

Table 6: Cored and uncored aspen and spruce snags by decay class, with percent that died postdisturbance for each decay class of the dead trees that were cored. The percentages of trees that died post-disturbance based on cored dead trees were applied to uncored dead trees by their corresponding species, decay class, and dbh.

Species	Decay Class	Median Year of Death	Mean Year of Death	Range of Years of Death	% died post- disturbance	Total cored	Uncored dead
	1	2014	2010	1960-2021	68%	98	33
A	2	2006	2001	1941-2021	40%	108	48
Aspen	3	1994	1988	1920-2013	1%	60	104
	4	1996	1992	1946-2011	0%	24	82
G	1	2011	2009	1973-2019	54%	54	21
	2	2005	2000	1952-2020	54%	36	12
Spruce	3	1992	1989	1973-2002	0%	3	2
	4	1998	1998	1998-1998	0%	1	1

Statistical Analysis

To determine whether harvest island remnants had higher mortality than fire island remnants and if tree mortality was influenced by edge effects, we built logistic regression models using all live and post-disturbance dead trees as well as additional tree and plot-level covariates. Logistic regression allows for the testing of interaction effects of treatments in addition to the main effects of individual treatment groups. This was supplemented with a survival analysis using a subset of dated dead trees to identify if there were temporal patterns of post-disturbance mortality, however, survival analysis does not allow for incorporation of interactive effects of treatments. The response variable in both cases is binary with 0 indicating the tree is still living and observations are right-censored, and 1 indicating the tree died. Additional covariates of interest including tree diameter, species and plot-level basal area were tested in both survival analysis and logistic regression models to determine if they had any effect on tree mortality. All statistical analyses were run in R version 4.2.1 (R Core Team 2022).

Logistic Regression

Using the dataset of all trees still living and those that died post-disturbance (including uncored dead trees with estimated post-disturbance deaths), we ran mixed effects logistic regressions to determine if there were differences in tree mortality based on differing combinations of treatment types/explanatory variables for the entire sampling area. We selected logistic regression because explanatory variables for logistic regression may be categorical and/or continuous (Quinn and Keough, 2002), and our response variable of dead/living trees is binary with 0 indicating the tree is still living and 1 indicating the tree died. Logistic regression calculates the probability of an event occurring, where the event in this study is tree death as coded by 1, therefore it calculates the probability of mortality. Logistic regression analysis was done using the lme4 package (Bates et al., 2015 in R version 4.2.1, R Core Team (2022)). The main explanatory variables selected to answer our research questions were disturbance type (fire/harvest) and location (island interior, island edge, reference edge, reference interior) to determine if fire islands and harvest islands differed with respect to plot-level mean tree mortality, as well as if edges contributed to differences in tree mortality. Additional predictor variables tested were as follows: size of tree (using dbh), plot-level basal area, and tree species. Each SiteID (the pairing of reference and island-4 total plots) within the corresponding Region (Mercer PR, Mercer HV, Alpac, Utikuma, Flattop, M024) was used for the random term in the models, this was a nested error term of SiteID nested within each Region. Candidate models were built, and model selection was based

on Akaike's Information Criterion (AIC) value, deviance, and the result of a Chi squared test to indicate a difference between models and if so, the more complex model was rejected in favor of the simpler model. Deviance measures model goodness-of-fit and unexplained variation within a model, a deviance of 0 indicates perfect model fit (Quinn and Keough, 2002). When DeltaAIC values were greater than 2, the model with lower AIC was selected as the preferred model (Burnham and Anderson, 2004). In the event that AIC values differed less than 2, if the addition of a covariate was not significant and didn't lower AIC significantly, that covariate would be left out in favor of the simpler model. Additionally, variance inflation was calculated to determine the quality of predictions based on the model. Finally, residual plots were examined to assess model goodness-of-fit using DHARMa package which scales residuals of logistic regression binary response variables, so interpretation of residuals is similar to that of linear models (Hartig F. in R version 4.2.1, R Core Team (2022)). Post-hoc testing compared estimated marginal means for treatment groups in the finalized logistic regression model to get expected values of mortality based on treatments and other covariates (Lenth R, emmeans package in R version 4.2.1, R Core Team (2022)).

Survival Analysis

Using all live trees and the subsample of cored and crossdated trees that died postdisturbance, survival analyses were run to analyze the influence of individual covariates on probability of survival over time following disturbance for individual trees in each plot location. Survival analysis incorporates time-dependent variables and although commonly used in medical settings, has only recently been used for tree mortality (Woodall et al., 2005). This method compares survival distributions of tree populations among different groups through time and deals with censored data when the timing of tree death is unknown (Allison, 2010). Although years of tree death were determined in this study using dendrochronology, survival analysis accounts for censored datapoints that may have experienced the event (tree death) since their initial visit—trees that were recorded as alive may have died since data collection. The survival function,

$$S(t) = P(T \ge t)$$

defines S(t) as probability that death occurs at some time T which is at least as great as time t and larger than 0 (Oakes, 2000). As seventy-five percent of dead trees were aspen or spruce, and due to their economic importance, these two tree species were the focus of statistical analysis. Survival analysis was performed using the survival package (Therneau T (2022) in R version 4.2.1, R Core Team (2022)).

Kaplan-Meier and Cox Regression curves were calculated to determine the influence of covariates and treatment variables on individual tree survival or hazard of death. Covariates tested included disturbance type, plot location, tree species and tree diameter. Tree diameters were split into three even dbh classes: small (9.1 cm dbh - 15.5 cm dbh), medium (15.5 cm dbh - 22.5 cm dbh) and large (>22.5 cm dbh) based on the distribution of tree diameters in the dataset. The Kaplan-Meier is a non-parametric estimate of survival probability at a given time. A log-rank test statistic was calculated to compare the survival between treatment groups for each explanatory variable (Allison, 2010). Cox proportional hazards models were built to determine the effect size of covariates on tree survival, as well as incorporate all significant variables identified in Kaplan-Meier curves together. The cox proportional hazards model calculates hazard of death via:

$$h(t|Xi) = h0(t)\exp(\beta 1x1 + \cdots \beta kxk)$$

where h(t) is the instantaneous rate at which the hazard of death occurs, h0(t) is the arbitrary baseline hazard, β is the regression coefficient of the set of explanatory variables, x1 to xk. Finally,

a hazard ratio forest plot shows the associated effect size of hazard of death for each covariate and indicates significance.

Results

A total of 5114 standing stems were visited in 94 individual plots. Of the 5114 stems, 921 were dead (18%). Seventy-five percent of dead trees were aspen or spruce, and over 85% of all standing stems were aspen or spruce. Of dead trees decay class 1 and 2, a subsample of 72% of dead aspen and 72% of dead spruce trees were cored for a total of 323 dead aspen and spruce trees sampled. Plot-level attributes such as total stem counts, tree diameters, total plot basal area and stand origin year (accessed from AVI data) varied across plot location, disturbance type, and between species. There were in general a higher number of aspen stems throughout plot types, which were slightly larger in tree diameter than spruce stems (Table 7). Mean plot level cumulative post-disturbance tree mortality varied from a high of 9.4% to a low of 3.6% within treatment and location categories throughout the study area, the highest observed mortality at the individual plot level was 27.3%, and some plots had no observed mortality (Table 8).

s, tree diameters	s of all species),	pe.
id spruce stem coun	nsity including tree	ns and disturbance t
tistics for aspen an	neasure of plot de	rouped by locatior
and summary stat	ems per hectare (r	rear for all plots g
t-level attributes	ge number of ste	a, stand origin y
able 7: Plot	dbh), averag	lot basal are

Disturbance	Location	n aspen stems	Aspen J Mediaı	DBH (cm) n Range	n spruce stems	Spruce I Median)BH (cm) Range	Avg. n Stems/ha	Plot Ba: Mea	ial Area (m²) n Range	Stand (Medi	Origin Yea an Range
Fire	Island	286	17.50	9.1-46.6	228	12.75	9.1-32.5	1633	1.756	1.046-2.462	1935	1910-195
Fire	Edge Island	325	19.1	9.2-48	222	14.45	9.1-40.1	1558	1.820	1.406-2.114	1940	1910-195
Fire	Reference	372	21.2	9.3-44.7	215	15.2	9.1-33.5	1529	2.020	1.294-2.915	1935	1920-1950
Fire	Edge Reference	402	21.3	9.1-42	226	14.3	9.2-34.8	1637	2.032	1.334-2.663	1941	1910-195
Harvest	Interior Island	252	23.0	9.4-45.7	179	17.6	9.1-41.5	931	1.983	0.929-2.607	1920	1860-194
Harvest	Ldge Island	270	22.9	10.5-	127	18.8	9.2-40.4	893	1.844	0.910-2.583	1930	1860-196
Harvest	Interior Reference	248	19.7	47.4 9.2-43.8	129	15.0	9.1-46.5	1010	1.743	1.035-2.254	1920	1900-194
Harvest	Edge Reference Interior	227	20.3	9.3-49.6	161	16.2	9.1-48.3	1032	2.030	1.802-2.411	1930	1860-194

Disturbance	Location	Median Mortality	Mean Mortality	Range of Mortality
Fire	Island Edge	7.7%	9.4%	0-27.3%
Fire	Island Interior	5.2%	5.5%	0-17.8%
Fire	Reference Edge	3.6%	3.6%	0-8.3%
Fire	Reference Interior	3.9%	4.9%	0-16.9%
Harvest	Island Edge	3.3%	5.0%	0-20.0%
Harvest	Island Interior	5.0%	4.1%	0-13.3%
Harvest	Reference Edge	4.0%	4.7%	0-14.3%
Harvest	Reference Interior	4.9%	7.0%	0-20.0%

Table 8: Median, mean and range of post-disturbance plot-level mortality in each disturbance type by Disturbance and Location.

Logistic regression model building & evaluation

From field sampling, all 3869 living and post-disturbance dead aspen and spruce trees (including uncored dead trees that were assigned a post-disturbance death) were used to fit logistic regression models. Logistic regression models were built to test the both the interactions and main effects of variables of interest: disturbance type and location (island or reference, edge, and interior plots). This allowed for comparing post-disturbance mortality between disturbance types, location types, and locations within each disturbance (i.e., fire island edge/interior, fire reference edge/interior, harvest island edge/interior and harvest reference edge/interior). Multiple logistic regression models were built to determine which covariates improved model fit, which included the interactive and main effects of disturbance and plot location, and the additive effects of tree

species, tree diameter, and plot basal area. Models were built starting with all covariates and interactions included and then compared to simpler models omitting individual covariates (Table 9). Tree species and tree diameter were identified to significantly improve the model and were included in the selected model, mod1. Lower AIC and deviance values confirmed the selection of mod1 over other models fit (Table 9). Models mod1.3 and mod1.6 have ΔAIC of 2 or less; however, mod1.3 includes a covariate (total plot basal area) that does not show significance in further testing, and mod1.6 omits the interaction term of location and disturbance type which are central to the study design and research question (Table 9). Variance Inflation Factors (VIFs) were calculated to check for multicollinearity and the instability of mod1, all VIFs were less than 1.5 for variables included-indicating that mod1 with included covariates is stable and there is no concern for multicollinearity (Table A2 Appendix). Model parameters used in mod1 were significant based on the likelihood ratio test, and an ANOVA of simpler models vs. the model with included terms. The selected model—mod1—was evaluated with the DHARMa package (Hartig F (2022). DHARMa: Residual Diagnostics for Hierarchical (Multi-Level /Mixed) Regression Models), with results indicating no concern for over/under dispersion, no heteroscedasticity and well-fitting residual plots (Fig. A2 Appendix).

Table 9: Logistic regression models built with nested random term and covariates, modeling the response variable of probability of mortality where 1=tree death and 0=tree is alive. Region refers to the geographic fire or harvest region: Alpac, Mercer Harmon Valley, Mercer Peace River, Flattop, Utikuma and M024. SiteID is the pairing of each reference and island for 4 total plots: Island Edge, Island Interior, Reference Edge and Reference Interior. Lower AIC and Deviance values indicate better-fitting models, therefore the mod1 is the best candidate for this dataset (as indicated by bolded text).

Model name	Model	AIC	ΔΑΙΟ	Deviance	Test to Include:
Nullmod	$\sim 1 + (1 SiteID/ Region)$	1592	31	1586	Null model, all variation due to randomness
mod0	~ Disturbance * Location + (1 SiteID/Region)	1594	33	1574	Study design interaction with no additive effects
mod1	~Disturbance * Location + Species + DBH + (1 SiteID/Region)	1561	0	1537	
mod1.2	~ Disturbance * Location + DBH + total_ba +(1 SiteID/Region)	1588	27	1564	Tree species
mod1.3	~ Disturbance * Location +Species + total_ba + DBH + (1 SiteID/Region)	1562	1	1536	Total plot basal area
mod1.4	~ Disturbance * Location +Species + total_ba + (1 SiteID/Region)	1582	21	1558	Tree diameter (dbh)
mod1.6	~ Species * DBH +Location +Disturbance + total_ba + (1 SiteID/Region)	1563	2	1541	Species and dbh interaction

Logistic regression model indicates plot location, species, and size affect tree mortality

With significant p-values (p<0.05), plot location, tree species, and diameter were determined to influence the response variable of tree mortality (Table 11, Figs. 5 & 6). Following

an estimated marginal means post-hoc test, there was one significant contrast: fire island edge plots had 2.4% higher mean post-disturbance mortality than fire reference edge plots (p<0.05, Fig. 7).



Figure 5: Predicted post-disturbance tree mortality from the selected logistic regression model (mod1) by plot location and disturbance type. Error bars indicate 95% confidence intervals. Mod1 indicated that Fire Island Edge plots had higher mortality than other plot locations or any harvest plots.

Additionally, the logistic regression model showed aspen trees had a higher mortality than spruce trees (p<0.05, Table 10). Estimated marginal means post-hoc tests supported this finding, with aspen expected to have around 10% mean mortality compared to spruce with 4% mean mortality (Fig. 6). Further, smaller sized trees had higher mortality than larger ones (p<0.05), with the smallest measured trees of 9.1cm dbh mortality at just under 8% and largest sized trees of 45-50 cm dbh with mortality of around 1% (Fig. 6).

Table 10: output of selected model, mod1, with nested error term (SiteID/Region), covariates of Species, DBH, disturbance, location and interaction term of Disturbance*Location. Significant p-values <0.05 indicate variables that influence post-disturbance tree mortality, including Location, Species and DBH, which are bolded below. Model fit: AIC= 1561.01, BIC= 1636.14, Pseudo-R² (fixed effects) = 0.08 Pseudo-R² (total) = 0.19.

Fixed Effects	Est.	S.E.	Z value	р
Intercept	-2.07	0.33	-6.37	<0.001
DisturbanceHarvest	-0.36	0.41	-0.89	0.37
LocationIslandInterior	-0.33	0.25	-1.30	0.19
LocationReferenceEdge	-0.88	0.29	-3.06	<0.001
LocationReferenceInterior	-0.63	0.27	-2.35	0.02
SpeciesPOTR	0.93	0.18	5.12	<0.001
DBH	-0.05	0.01	-4.45	<0.001
DisturbanceHarvest:LocationIslandInterior	-0.16	0.41	-0.39	0.69
DisturbanceHarvest:LocationReferenceEdge	0.69	0.44	1.56	0.12
DisturbanceHarvest:LocationReferenceInterior	0.55	0.44	1.25	0.21



Figure 6: Mod1 predicted post-disturbance mortality of trees based on tree species (either Aspen or Spruce) (a), aspen have higher mortality under these research conditions than spruce, error bars are 95% confidence intervals—and tree diameter (b), where smaller sized trees have higher probability of mortality than larger sized trees, error bars are 95% confidence intervals.



Figure 7: Pairwise p-value plots of estimated marginal means of post-hoc tests for interaction of Disturbance and Location of mod1. Vertical lines connect two treatments being compared. In an estimated marginal means between locations in each disturbance type, the only significant difference was between Fire Island Edge and Fire Reference Edge plots, which is circled above.

No temporal patterns of post-disturbance tree survival

The Kaplan-Meier curve of all living and dated dead aspen and spruce trees shows no specific temporal patterns or single years with a sharp decrease in survival; overall tree survival remained high (>95%) for the entire study area twelve years following disturbance (Fig. 8). Tree survival did not differ significantly between disturbance types (log-rank test, p=0.25) or location type (log-rank test, p=0.30) (Fig. 9). Within island plots, both disturbance type and plot placement (edge/interior) did not have any significant effect on tree survival (p>0.05). Between the two tree species of interest, aspen had a lower probability of survival than spruce (log-rank test, p=0.0021). Further, smaller sized trees (dbh 9.1-15.5 cm) showed a lower probability of survival than medium (dbh 15.5-22.5 cm) and large-sized (dbh 22.5+ cm) trees (log-rank test, p=0.017) (Fig. 10).



Figure 8: Aspen and spruce tree survival up to 12.5 years after disturbances–all disturbance types, plot types included. No one year has a sharp decrease in survival, and throughout time the probability of survival stays above 95%. The grey area around the line represents 95% confidence intervals. The + signs indicate data that are censored.



Figure 9: probability of survival based on disturbance (a) and location (b), neither treatment results in a significant difference in probability of survival between treatment groups (p>0.05). The + signs indicate data that are censored, colors around each line represent 95% confidence intervals.



Figure 10: (a) tree survival curves comparing aspen and spruce and **(b)** by diameter class of trees (both aspen and spruce combined). Aspen trees show a significant difference of lower probability of survival compared to spruce, and smaller sized trees (9.1-15.5 cm dbh) show a lower probability of survival than larger sized trees (>15.5 cm dbh). The + signs indicate data that are censored, colors around each line represent 95% confidence intervals.

Smaller aspen trees (dbh 9.1-15.5 cm) show a significantly lower survival probability than larger sized aspen trees (log-rank test, p<0.0001), whereas the diameter of spruce trees did not affect tree survival (Fig. 11).-The survival curve of spruce trees leveled off and became less steep after approximately seven years following disturbance, possibly indicating stabilizing survival, although survival is still quite high at over 96%. The survival curve of aspen trees did not appear to level off and tree survival continued to decrease through the twelve years following disturbance. Finally, among spruce trees, there was a marginally significant difference between fire and harvest disturbances, with spruce in harvest plots having slightly higher probability of survival at 98.4% compared to spruce in fire plots with survival at 96.6% (log-rank test, p=0.058) (Fig. 12).



Figure 11: Probability of survival separated by tree species: small aspen trees have a lower probability of survival than larger sized aspen trees (a), spruce tree size does not affect the probability of tree survival (b). The + signs indicate data that are censored, colors around each line represent 95% confidence intervals.



Figure 12: Spruce survival curves following disturbance, with a marginal difference between fire and harvest disturbances (log-rank test, p=0.058), with spruce in fire sites showing lower probability of survival than those in harvest sites. The + signs indicate data that are censored, colors around each line represent 95% confidence intervals.

Smaller sized trees, as well as aspen trees exhibited higher hazard of death via hazard ratios (Fig. 13), with significant differences (p<0.05). Aspen trees were 2.25 times more likely to die than spruce trees, and smaller sized trees (dbh 9.1-15.5cm) were 2.02 times more likely to die than larger sized trees (dbh>22.5cm). Finally, small aspen trees were 2.36 times more likely to die than larger sized aspen trees.



Hazard ratio

Figure 13: Hazard ratios for each treatment in cox regression curve, right column with asterisk indicates significant p-values for differences in treatment groups. Values above 1 indicate higher hazard of death, values below 1 indicate lower hazard of death. Aspen (POTR) is 2.25 times more likely to experience the hazard of tree death than spruce (PIGL), and smaller sized trees have roughly twice as high hazard of death than larger sized trees.

Discussion

This study provides an in-situ comparison of post-disturbance tree mortality in wildfire and harvest island remnants in the Western boreal forest of Canada, with a focus on standing dead mortality. While windthrown-caused mortality was not specifically measured in this study, considering the results of a companion study on recent downed deadwood that found no significant difference between either disturbance-created island remnant type and no edge effects observed, (Moore 2022 unpublished), we believe that overall post-disturbance tree mortality would not differ significantly based on treatments and covariates. However, these results on downed trees do not offer any insight into temporal patterns of windthrown caused mortality as the downed wood was not dated. Further, Moore (2022) found that the species makeup of downed deadwood had higher amounts of *Populus spp.* than *Picea spp.* in island remnant and reference forest sampling plots, so there is not an unaccounted-for influx of dead spruce that would otherwise influence overall post-disturbance mortality amounts when comparing tree species.

To our knowledge, the direct comparison of tree mortality in island remnants of wildfires and harvests within the paradigm of ecosystem-based management, or more specifically retention forestry, has not been made until now. Results from a large-scale retention experiment which implemented varying amounts of tree retention (EMEND experiment with 10, 20, 50, 75 and 100% retention) only compared residual tree mortality to reference forest or clearcuts, without the comparison to naturally created wildfire residuals (Solarik et al., 2012; Spence et al., 1999). Research in Finland examined post-disturbance mortality of both wildfire and harvest, but applied prescribed burns following harvest to the same study sites and harvest retention was not applied as island retention (Hämäläinen et al., 2016). Island remnant residual tree mortality following wildfire was analyzed in the Eastern boreal forest of Quebec (Angers et al., 2011), but with no direct comparison to post-harvest mortality. Although the above studies examined tree mortality responses to individual disturbances (harvest and wildfire), there has been no explicit comparison made between wildfire and harvest island remnant tree mortality. Our results include tree mortality responses in both wildfire and harvest island remnants, integrating edge effects and individual tree characteristics to explain post-disturbance tree mortality in a comprehensive real-world study located in the Western boreal forests of Alberta.

Disturbances and edge effects on tree mortality

The results of the selected logistic regression model revealed that fire island edge plots had almost 6% higher mean mortality than fire reference edge plots based on post-hoc estimated marginal means comparisons. There was no overall difference detected in tree mortality by disturbance type or plot location in either the survival analysis or logistic regression analysis, as both forms of analyses measured the main effects of treatments, and datasets were relatively similar. Because survival analysis does not measure interactive effects and is focused on temporal patterns of singular effects, the pairing of these two analyses paints a comprehensive picture of post-disturbance standing dead mortality considering all covariates, treatments, interactions, and temporal patterns. Reference edge plots did not have higher mortality than reference interior plots, suggesting that the combination of island and edge location affects tree mortality more than simply edge effects alone. Harvest sites had no significant difference in tree mortality based on any plot location or interior/edge conditions. These findings support results from a study that found edge influence was more extensive at fire edges than cut edges (Harper et al., 2015). Trees along forest edges that were not initially killed due to wildfires may be damaged and more susceptible to mortality-causing agents, which could lead to the increased post-wildfire mortality seen in our study. However, residual trees left following harvest may also be damaged by logging equipment

resulting in higher post-harvest mortality compared to intact reference forest (Thorpe et al., 2008), although higher post-harvest tree mortality in island remnants compared to reference forest was not detected in this study.

The results of the survival analysis showed no apparent temporal patterns or peaks of tree mortality following either type of disturbance in this study. These results differ from findings in similar post-disturbance studies that found a strong pulse in tree mortality in the first two years following wildfire (Angers et al., 2011) and a peak in standing dead tree mortality following harvest (Thorpe et al., 2008). However, a caveat is that we did not account for windthrow-caused mortality in this study because dating downed wood was not feasible for the timeframe of this project, therefore it's possible not all post-disturbance mortality was captured, and unmeasured blowdown could contribute to temporal patterns seen in previous studies.

Individual tree covariates affect mortality

At the individual tree level, smaller tree diameter negatively affected the survival of trees in both the survival analysis and logistic regression models. Smaller sized trees had higher mortality throughout the decade after disturbances, although this pattern was more apparent in wildfire sites than harvest sites. These results support previous studies that documented a relationship between stem size and susceptibility to mortality, with smaller sized trees having higher mortality rates (Bladon et al., 2008; Caspersen, 2006; Yao et al., 2001). Smaller sized trees in younger and more dense stands are likely to self-thin, whereas smaller trees in mature stands are likely to be suppressed (Yao et al., 2001), which could explain the higher mortality seen in smaller diameter trees in the present study.

Our results suggested aspen trees were more likely to die than spruce, and further that smaller sized aspen trees have a lower probability of survival. There are several factors that could support this finding. Tree death is influenced by the successional stage of forest stands, and aspen are early successional trees. We made an effort to sample areas with similar stand origin years, however the stand origin years in our plots ranged from 1860-1960 depending on the sampling region (Table 9), though we note that island remnant/reference pairs had similar or the same stand origin years. Stand origin years were provided from AVI data, and aerial imagery used to estimate stand ages may not be as accurate as on-the-ground measurements, although median stand origin years between fires and harvests were generally similar within twenty years. It is possible that some of the mortality captured is due to aging aspen stands, although the highest mortality overall was in fire island edge plots and based on the distribution of stand origin years, we would expect to see higher mortality across all sites with the same or similar stand origin years if this was due to aging aspen stands. In fact, the oldest stands were in harvest plots in all locations, which did not contain the highest standing dead mortality. A potential explanation for why aspen trees, and specifically smaller aspen trees had higher mortality than spruce or larger aspen trees is that when canopy cover decreases and wind exposure increases, smaller aspen stems experience more physical bending and this may damage their xylem, leading to water stress and possible mortality (Bladon et al., 2008). Finally, deciduous trees have been found to be less fire resistant than conifers and thin-barked aspen are the least fire resistant and have the highest mortality following wildfire, which could contribute to the higher mortality rates in our study in fire island edge plots and higher mortality rates of aspen trees (Hély et al., 2003).

Additional factors may influence tree mortality

Size or area of wildfire residuals and island remnants may be a factor that influences residual tree mortality. A study in Sweden found tree mortality decreased with increasing fragment/island remnant size when island remnants varied from 1/16–1 ha in size (Jönsson et al.,

2007). The size of island remnants measured in this study only varied from 1-2.5 ha, which is not entirely representative of the variety of island sizes created by wildfire or harvests. We selected study sites to compare similarly sized island remnants between both disturbance types, rather than including sites throughout the distribution of potential island sizes. This could indicate that at the size of 1 ha or larger, tree mortality may not differ significantly, although additional research on patch size is necessary to accurately estimate tree mortality between disturbance types with island size as a factor. Finally, we did not find total plot basal area—a measure of stand density—to be a significant covariate in predicting post-disturbance tree mortality. In contrast, a study in mixed conifer forests of the Lake Tahoe Basin found increased stand density to increase probability of tree mortality due to increased competition between trees, especially during a drought period (Van Gunst et al., 2016).

The present study captures post-disturbance standing mortality over a ten-year response period to determine if harvesting leaves a long-term impact on forest island remnants compared with fire island remnants. Establishing permanent sampling plots with consecutive site visits to capture immediate mortality following disturbances (as in Angers et al., 2011) in addition to longterm responses to treatments could improve sampling methods. Fire residual patches may decrease in size or even disappear throughout the years following fire because edges at residuals are highly dynamic, experience high rates of windthrow and exhibit delayed mortality in the transitional zones between burned and unburned areas (Perera and Buse 2014). Because our study sites were sampled only once a decade after disturbances, there may exist unmeasured island remnants that experienced higher mortality than we captured, incorporating these instances could better describe post-disturbance mortality in future studies.

Mortality from windthrow was not possible to include due to sampling methods and one season of data collection. Future work could explore collecting tree core samples from downed trees, although because downed wood decays faster it may be harder to collect solid cores for dendrochronological processing and accurately determining year of tree death. However, one study found that windthrow and standing death contributed equally to overall post-harvest mortality (Thorpe et al., 2008), suggesting that although we did not capture windthrow mortality in our study, patterns of mortality due to treatments and covariates could remain similar with or without incorporating windthrow. Although the data for this research was restricted to standing dead trees, downed deadwood was studied in a companion project using the same sampling plots. Total amounts of recent downed deadwood (defined as decay class 1-2 using similar morphological characteristics as methods listed above) were calculated and models built to detect differences. The results of this study found no differences in recent downed deadwood amounts in island remnants created by wildfire and harvest, as well as no edge effects on downed woody debris in reference or island remnant stands (Moore 2022, unpublished). These results from the same study sites allow us to speak to downed woody debris amounts; because there was no significant difference in recent deadwood between fire and island remnants or any measured edge effects, we can estimate that windthrow-caused mortality would not likely influence the results of this study even though this was not specifically measured.

Estimating year of tree death

Morphological attributes of dead wood such as presence of fine branches, bark coverage and intact top on trees have been used to classify decay stage and estimate time since tree death (Lombardi et al., 2008). Decay classifications are not species-specific and various tree species follow similar decay patterns. However, deadwood often contains characteristics associated with multiple decay classes such as a snag having fine branches but no bark coverage, this can cause confusion when determining decay class (Angers et al., 2012). The accuracy of decay classification as a measure of time since tree death is questionable due to the variability in visual characteristics, assessments and additional factors that influence wood decay (Lombardi et al., 2008). Additionally, snags burned by wildfires may lack fine branches used to indicate decay stage. However, our study sites were specifically selected in unburned stands of forest with no visual evidence of burning, therefore this concern does not apply.

Research in coniferous subalpine forests in the Colorado Rocky Mountains provided an estimate that, although trees in older decay classes were dead longer than trees in younger decay classes (8-31 years difference in mean year of death between decay classes), the range of years of death for each decay class overlapped between decay classes and was too broad to accurately approximate year of tree death based on a given decay class (Mast and Veblen, 1994). The results of our study show similar results to existing research that decay class can provide an estimate but not define an accurate year of tree death based on dead wood characteristics.

Using tree rings and dendrochronological methods are useful to describe tree mortality patterns (Mast and Veblen, 1994) but in this study the years of death are meant only as an estimation of tree death timing as a response to disturbances. The last ring used in dendrochronological analysis may not correspond to the actual year of tree death because trees can stop producing rings 1-3 years before they die (Mast and Veblen, 1994). However, contemporary studies use tree rings and dendrochronology to estimate year of tree death, with the last ring produced as the year of tree death with an accuracy of one calendar year (Angers et al., 2011; Helama et al., 2012; Lombardi et al., 2008; Fritts 2012), and we feel confident that the crossdating methods and reference chronologies used here are robust enough for the objectives of this study.

CONCLUSIONS

Implications for ecosystem-based management

Following wide scale disturbances, forest remnants of live trees and intact forest structure can aid in forest regeneration and provide important habitat to wildlife (Kohm and Franklin, 1997; Moussaoui et al., 2016). However, if there is high tree mortality in these island remnants, they may not function as effectively to provide these ecosystem services. This study found that tree mortality was not higher in harvest island remnant plots compared to fire island plots, providing evidence to support the continued implementation of island retention forestry within the scope of ecosystem-based management.

Certain tree-level attributes may better predict susceptibility to mortality; therefore, forest managers may choose to implement island retention in specific ways to decrease post-disturbance residual mortality. Minimizing edge creation by creating more round patches, especially in island remnants, may support residual tree survival. As small-diameter aspen trees are more susceptible to mortality, leaving behind larger sized aspen trees and higher amounts of spruce trees, when possible, could aid in island retention survival and persistence. Trees in forest island remnants that survive over ten years past disturbances are unlikely to die due to the effect of island creation and as they continue living, they provide canopy cover and habitat for wildlife, resources for forest regeneration, and contribute to structural diversity aiding in forest recovery (Angers et al., 2011).

Finally, our observational study provides real-world results based on what forest managers and operators are doing in the field, rather than experimental conditions set up by researchers that may not be followed closely in practice. By utilizing forest island remnants created in normal forest harvest operations, we can evaluate their resilience by quantifying post-harvest tree mortality. In harvest sites, residual tree mortality was similar regardless of edge or interior plot placement. In the past, green tree retention has been criticized due to residual tree mortality, however our results show that in the decade following harvest, the loss of residual trees is not elevated in island remnants compared to reference forest or to post-fire residual tree mortality in the Western boreal forest.

References

- Aakala, T., Kuuluvainen, T., Wallenius, T., Kauhanen, H., 2009. Contrasting patterns of tree mortality in late-successional Picea abies stands in two areas in northern Fennoscandia. Journal of Vegetation Science 20, 1016–1026. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1654-1103.2009.01100.x
- Allison, P.D., 2010. Survival Analysis Using SAS: A Practical Guide, Second Edition. SAS Institute.
- Angers, V.A., Bergeron, Y., Drapeau, P., 2012. Morphological attributes and snag classification of four North American boreal tree species: Relationships with time since death and wood density. Forest Ecology and Management 263, 138–147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2011.09.004
- Angers, V.A., Gauthier, S., Drapeau, P., Jayen, K., Bergeron, Y., Angers, V.A., Gauthier, S., Drapeau, P., Jayen, K., Bergeron, Y., 2011. Tree mortality and snag dynamics in North American boreal tree species after a wildfire: a long-term study. Int. J. Wildland Fire 20, 751–763. https://doi.org/10.1071/WF10010
- Bergeron, Y., Engelmark, O., Harvey, B., Morin, H., Sirois, L., 1998. Key issues in disturbance dynamics in boreal forests: Introduction. Journal of Vegetation Science 9, 464–468. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1654-1103.1998.tb00931.x
- Bladon, K.D., Lieffers, V.J., Silins, U., Landhäusser, S.M., Blenis, P.V., 2008. Elevated mortality of residual trees following structural retention harvesting in boreal mixedwoods. The Forestry Chronicle 84, 70–75. https://doi.org/10.5558/tfc84070-1
- Brandt, J.P., Flannigan, M.D., Maynard, D.G., Thompson, I.D., Volney, W.J.A., 2013. An introduction to Canada's boreal zone: ecosystem processes, health, sustainability, and environmental issues. Environ. Rev. 21, 207–226. https://doi.org/10.1139/er-2013-0040
- Burnham, K.P., Anderson, D.R., 2004. Multimodel Inference: Understanding AIC and BIC in Model Selection. Sociological Methods & Research 33, 261–304. https://doi.org/10.1177/0049124104268644
- Burton, P.J., Messier, C., Adamowicz, W.L., Kuuluvainen, T., 2006. Sustainable management of Canada's boreal forests: Progress and prospects. Écoscience 13, 234–248. https://doi.org/10.2980/i1195-6860-13-2-234.1
- Caspersen, J.P., 2006. Elevated mortality of residual trees following single-tree felling in northern hardwood forests. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 36, 1255–1265. https://doi.org/10.1139/X06-034
- Chen, J., Franklin, J.F., Spies, T.A., 1992. Vegetation Responses to Edge Environments in Old-Growth Douglas-Fir Forests. Ecological Applications 2, 387–396. https://doi.org/10.2307/1941873
- Dodonov, P., Harper, K., Silva Matos, D., 2013. The role of edge contrast and forest structure in edge influence: Vegetation and microclimate at edges in the Brazilian cerrado. Plant Ecology 214. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11258-013-0256-0
- Dragotescu, I., Kneeshaw, D., 2012. A comparison of residual forest following fires and harvesting in boreal forests in Quebec, Canada. Silva Fenn. 46. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.47
- Eberhart, K.E., Woodard, P.M., 1987. Distribution of residual vegetation associated with large fires in Alberta. Can. J. For. Res. 17, 1207–1212. https://doi.org/10.1139/x87-186

- Ecke, F., Löfgren, O., Sörlin, D., 2002. Population dynamics of small mammals in relation to forest age and structural habitat factors in northern Sweden. Journal of Applied Ecology 39, 781–792. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2664.2002.00759.x
- Franklin, J.F., Johnson, K.N., Johnson, D.L., 2018. Ecological Forest Management. Waveland Press.
- Franklin, J.F., Lindenmayer, D., MacMahon, J.A., McKee, A., Magnuson, J., Perry, D.A., Waide, R., Foster, D., 2000. Threads of Continuity. There are immense differences between even-aged silvicultural disturbances (especially clearcutting) and natural disturbances, such as windthrow, wildfire, and even volcanic eruptions. Conservation in Practice 1, 8–17. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-4629.2000.tb00155.x
- Franklin, J.F., Shugart, H.H., Harmon, M.E., 1987. Tree Death as an Ecological Process. BioScience 37, 550–556. https://doi.org/10.2307/1310665
- Franklin, J.F., Spies, T.A., Pelt, R.V., Carey, A.B., Thornburgh, D.A., Berg, D.R., Lindenmayer, D.B., Harmon, M.E., Keeton, W.S., Shaw, D.C., Bible, K., Chen, J., 2002. Disturbances and structural development of natural forest ecosystems with silvicultural implications, using Douglas-fir forests as an example. Forest Ecology and Management, Forest Ecology in the next Millennium : Putting the long view into Practice 155, 399–423. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(01)00575-8
- Fritts, H., 2012. Tree rings and climate. Elsevier.
- Gandhi, K.J., Spence, J.R., Langor, D.W., Morgantini, L.E., Cryer, K.J., 2004. Harvest retention patches are insufficient as stand analogues of fire residuals for litter-dwelling beetles in northern coniferous forests. Can. J. For. Res. 34, 1319–1331. https://doi.org/10.1139/x04-018
- Gandhi, K.J.K., Spence, J.R., Langor, D.W., Morgantini, L.E., 2001. Fire residuals as habitat reserves for epigaeic beetles (Coleoptera: Carabidae and Staphylinidae). Biological Conservation 102, 131–141. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3207(01)00099-4
- Gascon, C., Williamson, G.B., da Fonseca, G.A.B., 2000. Receding Forest Edges and Vanishing Reserves. Science 288, 1356–1358. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.288.5470.1356
- Gauthier, S., Bernier, P., Kuuluvainen, T., Shvidenko, A.Z., Schepaschenko, D.G., 2015. Boreal forest health and global change. Science. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaa9092
- Goldammer, J. G., Furyaev, V. V., 1996. Fire in Ecosystems of Boreal Eurasia: Ecological Impacts and Links to the Global System, in: Goldammer, Johann Georg, Furyaev, Valentin V. (Eds.), Fire in Ecosystems of Boreal Eurasia, Forestry Sciences. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, pp. 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-015-8737-2
- Groeschl, D.A., Johnson, J.E., Smith, D.W., 1992. Early Vegetative Response to Wildfire in a Table Mountain-Pitch Pine Forest. Int. J. Wildland Fire 2, 177–184. https://doi.org/10.1071/wf9920177
- Grumbine, R.E., 1994. What Is Ecosystem Management? Conservation Biology 8, 27–38. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.1994.08010027.x
- Gustafsson, L., Baker, S.C., Bauhus, J., Beese, W.J., Brodie, A., Kouki, J., Lindenmayer, D.B., Lõhmus, A., Pastur, G.M., Messier, C., Neyland, M., Palik, B., Sverdrup-Thygeson, A., Volney, W.J.A., Wayne, A., Franklin, J.F., 2012. Retention Forestry to Maintain Multifunctional Forests: A World Perspective. BioScience 62, 633–645. https://doi.org/10.1525/bio.2012.62.7.6
- Hämäläinen, A., Hujo, M., Heikkala, O., Junninen, K., Kouki, J., 2016. Retention tree characteristics have major influence on the post-harvest tree mortality and availability of

coarse woody debris in clear-cut areas. Forest Ecology and Management 369, 66–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2016.03.037

- Harper, K., Macdonald, S., 2002. Structure and Composition of Edges Next to Regenerating Clear-Cuts in Mixed-Wood Boreal Forest. Aspen Bibliography 13. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1654-1103.2002.tb02080.x
- Harper, K.A., Macdonald, S.E., Burton, P.J., Chen, J., Brosofske, K.D., Saunders, S.C., Euskirchen, E.S., Roberts, D., Jaiteh, M.S., Esseen, P.-A., 2005. Edge Influence on Forest Structure and Composition in Fragmented Landscapes. Conservation Biology 19, 768– 782. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2005.00045.x
- Harper, K.A., Macdonald, S.E., Mayerhofer, M.S., Biswas, S.R., Esseen, P.-A., Hylander, K., Stewart, K.J., Mallik, A.U., Drapeau, P., Jonsson, B.-G., Lesieur, D., Kouki, J., Bergeron, Y., 2015. Edge influence on vegetation at natural and anthropogenic edges of boreal forests in Canada and Fennoscandia. Journal of Ecology 103, 550–562. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.12398
- Hassan, R., Scholes, R., Ash, N., 2005. Ecosystems and human well-being: current state and trends. Washington, DC (USA) Island Press.
- Heikkala, O., Suominen, M., Junninen, K., Hämäläinen, A., Kouki, J., 2014. Effects of retention level and fire on retention tree dynamics in boreal forests. Forest Ecology and Management 328, 193–201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2014.05.022
- Helama, S., Läänelaid, A., Raisio, J., Tuomenvirta, H., 2012. Mortality of urban pines in Helsinki explored using tree rings and climate records. Trees 26, 353–362. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00468-011-0597-z
- Hély, C., Flannigan, M., Bergeron, Y., 2003. Modeling Tree Mortality Following Wildfire in the Southeastern Canadian Mixed-Wood Boreal Forest. Forest Science 49, 566–576. https://doi.org/10.1093/forestscience/49.4.566
- Hogg, E.H., Michaelian, M., 2015. Factors affecting fall down rates of dead aspen (Populus tremuloides) biomass following severe drought in west-central Canada. Global Change Biology 21, 1968–1979. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12805
- Janík, D., Král, K., Adam, Dusan, Vrska, Tomas, Lutz, James, n.d. ForestGEO Dead Wood Census Protocol. Smithsonian Institute:Utah State University Digital Commons Paper 12.
- Johnson, Edward A., Johnson, Edward Arnold, 1996. Fire and Vegetation Dynamics: Studies from the North American Boreal Forest. Cambridge University Press.
- Jönsson, M.T., Fraver, S., Jonsson, B.G., Dynesius, M., Rydgård, M., Esseen, P.-A., 2007. Eighteen years of tree mortality and structural change in an experimentally fragmented Norway spruce forest. Forest Ecology and Management 242, 306–313. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2007.01.048
- Kasischke, E.S., 2000. Boreal Ecosystems in the Global Carbon Cycle, in: Kasischke, E.S., Stocks, B.J. (Eds.), Fire, Climate Change, and Carbon Cycling in the Boreal Forest, Ecological Studies. Springer, New York, NY, pp. 19–30. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-21629-4 2
- Kasischke, E.S., Stocks, B.J., 2000. Introduction, in: Kasischke, E.S., Stocks, B.J. (Eds.), Fire, Climate Change, and Carbon Cycling in the Boreal Forest, Ecological Studies. Springer, New York, NY, pp. 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-21629-4_1
- Kohm, K.A., Franklin, J.F., 1997a. Creating a Forestry for the 21st Century: The Science Of Ecosytem Management. Island Press.

- Kuuluvainen, T., Aakala, T., 2011. Natural forest dynamics in boreal Fennoscandia: a review and classification. Silva Fenn. 45. <u>https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.73</u>
- Laurance, W.F., Ferreira, L.V., Rankin-de Merona, J.M., Laurance, S.G., 1998. Rain Forest Fragmentation and the Dynamics of Amazonian Tree Communities. Ecology 79, 2032– 2040. https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(1998)079[2032:RFFATD]2.0.CO;2
- Laurance, W.F., Lovejoy, T.E., Vasconcelos, H.L., Bruna, E.M., Didham, R.K., Stouffer, P.C., Gascon, C., Bierregaard, R.O., Laurance, S.G., Sampaio, E., 2002. Ecosystem Decay of Amazonian Forest Fragments: a 22-Year Investigation. Conservation Biology 16, 605– 618. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.2002.01025.x
- Lenth R (2022). _emmeans: Estimated Marginal Means, aka Least-Squares Means_. R package version 1.7.5, https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=emmeans>.
- Lombardi, F., Cherubini, P., Lasserre, B., Tognetti, R., Marchetti, M., 2008. Tree rings used to assess time since death of deadwood of different decay classes in beech and silver fir forests in the central Apennines (Molise, Italy). Can. J. For. Res. 38, 821–833. https://doi.org/10.1139/X07-195
- Lüdecke D (2021). sjPlot: Data Visualization for Statistics in Social Science. R package version 2.8.10, https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=sjPlot
- Mast, J.N., Veblen, T.T., 1994. A Dendrochronological Method of Studying Tree Mortality Patterns. Physical Geography 15, 529–542. https://doi.org/10.1080/02723646.1994.10642533
- Moussaoui, L., Fenton, N.J., Leduc, A., Bergeron, Y., 2016. Can Retention Harvest Maintain Natural Structural Complexity? A Comparison of Post-Harvest and Post-Fire Residual Patches in Boreal Forest. Forests 7, 243. https://doi.org/10.3390/f7100243
- Mulverhill, C., Coops, N.C., White, J.C., Tompalski, P., Marshall, P.L., 2019. Structural development following stand-replacing disturbance in a boreal mixedwood forest. Forest Ecology and Management 453, 117586. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2019.117586
- Oakes, D., 2000. Survival Analysis. Journal of the American Statistical Association 95, 282–285. https://doi.org/10.2307/2669547
- Payette, S., 1992. Fire as a controlling process in the North American boreal forest, in: Bonan, G.B., Shugart, H.H., Leemans, R. (Eds.), A Systems Analysis of the Global Boreal Forest. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 144–169. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511565489.006
- Perera, A., Buse, L., 2014. Ecology of Wildfire Residuals in Boreal Forests. John Wiley & Sons.
- R Core Team (2022). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL https://www.R-project.org/.
- Ranney, J.W., 1977. Forest island edges: their structure, development, and importance to regional forest ecosystem dynamics. Oak Ridge National Lab.(ORNL), Oak Ridge, TN (United States).
- Rogeau, M.-P., Flannigan, M.D., Hawkes, B.C., Parisien, M.-A., Arthur, R., Rogeau, M.-P., Flannigan, M.D., Hawkes, B.C., Parisien, M.-A., Arthur, R., 2016. Spatial and temporal variations of fire regimes in the Canadian Rocky Mountains and Foothills of southern Alberta. Int. J. Wildland Fire 25, 1117–1130. https://doi.org/10.1071/WF15120
- Rowe, J.S., Scotter, G.W., 1973. Fire in the Boreal Forest. Quaternary Research 3, 444–464. https://doi.org/10.1016/0033-5894(73)90008-2

- Schlossberg, S., King, D.I., 2008. Are Shrubland Birds Edge Specialists. Ecological Applications 18, 1325–1330. https://doi.org/10.1890/08-0020.1
- Smith, T.M., Shugart, H.H., Bonan, G.B. and Smith, J.B., 1992. Modeling the potential response of vegetation to global climate change. Advances in ecological research (Vol. 22, pp. 93-116). Academic Press.
- Smyth, C., Schieck, J., Boutin, S., Wasel, S., 2005. Influence of stand size on pattern of live trees in mixedwood landscapes following wildfire. The Forestry Chronicle 81, 125–132. https://doi.org/10.5558/tfc81125-1
- Solarik, K.A., Volney, W.J.A., Lieffers, V.J., Spence, J.R., Hamann, A., 2012. Factors affecting white spruce and aspen survival after partial harvest. Journal of Applied Ecology 49, 145–154. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2011.02089.x
- Spence, J.R., Volney, W.J.A., Weber, M.G., Lieffers, V.J., Luchkow, S.A., Vinge, T.W., 1999. The Alberta EMEND project : recipe and cooks` argument.
- Therneau T (2022). A Package for Survival Analysis in R. R package version 3.4-0, https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=survival>.
- Therneau, T., Grambsch, P. (2000). Modeling Survival Data: Extending the Cox Model. Springer, New York. ISBN 0-387-98784-3
- Thorpe, H.C., Thomas, S.C., Caspersen, J.P., 2008. Tree mortality following partial harvests is determined by skidding proximity. Ecological Applications 18, 1652–1663. https://doi.org/10.1890/07-1697.1
- van der Werf, G.R., Randerson, J.T., Giglio, L., Collatz, G.J., Mu, M., Kasibhatla, P.S., Morton, D.C., DeFries, R.S., Jin, Y., van Leeuwen, T.T., 2010. Global fire emissions and the contribution of deforestation, savanna, forest, agricultural, and peat fires (1997–2009). Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics 10, 11707–11735. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-10-11707-2010
- Van Gunst, K.J., Weisberg, P.J., Yang, J., Fan, Y., 2016. Do denser forests have greater risk of tree mortality: A remote sensing analysis of density-dependent forest mortality. Forest Ecology and Management, Special Section: Forests, Roots and Soil Carbon 359, 19–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2015.09.032
- Weber, M.G., Flannigan, M.D., 1997. Canadian boreal forest ecosystem structure and function in a changing climate: impact on fire regimes. Environ. Rev. 5, 145–166. https://doi.org/10.1139/a97-008
- Wickham, H. 2016. ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis. Springer-Verlag New York.
- Wickham H, François R, Henry L, Müller K (2022). _dplyr: A Grammar of Data Manipulation_. R package version 1.0.9, <https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=dplyr>.
- Woodall, C.W., Grambsch, P.L., Thomas, W., 2005. Applying survival analysis to a large-scale forest inventory for assessment of tree mortality in Minnesota. Ecological Modelling 189, 199–208. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2005.04.011
- Xing, D., Nielsen, S.E., Macdonald, S.E., Spence, J.R., He, F., 2018. Survival and growth of residual trees in a variable retention harvest experiment in a boreal mixedwood forest. Forest Ecology and Management 411, 187–194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2018.01.026

Yao, X., Titus, S.J., MacDonald, S.E., 2001. A generalized logistic model of individual tree mortality for aspen, white spruce, and lodgepole pine in Alberta mixedwood forests. Can. J. For. Res. 31, 283–291. https://doi.org/10.1139/x00-162
Appendix

				Plot	Island/Reference	Edge/Interior	Plot Centre Coordinates
Plot	Island/Reference	Edge/Interior	Plot Centre Coordinates	MEE-23-IE	Island	Edge	56.075103116.335233
ALP-08-IE	Island	Edge	55.521073,-112.288586	MEE-23-II	Island	Interior	56.075039,-116.335501
ALP-08-II	Island	Interior	55.520886,-112.288448	MEE-23-RE	Reference	Edge	56.073484,-116.336217
ALP-08-RE	Reference	Edge	55.529237,-112.280288	MEE-23-RI	Reference	Interior	56.073525,-116.33666
ALP-08-RI	Reference	Interior	55.52949,-112.280192	MEE-24-IE	Island	Edge	56.082619,-116.335177
ALP-13-IE	Island	Edge	55.030638,-112.155542	MEE-24-II	Island	Interior	56.082485,-116.334865
ALP-13-II	Island	Interior	55.030475,-112.15565	MEE-24-RE	Reference	Edge	56.083734,-116.333743
ALP-13-RE	Reference	Edge	55.031569,-112.151908	MEE-24-RI	Reference	Interior	56.083742,-116.333283
ALP-13-RI	Reference	Interior	55.031843,-112.15187	S056-03-IE	Island	Edge	55.321126,-115.108782
ALP-18-IE	Island	Edge	55.197339,-111.698039	S056-03-II	Island	Interior	55.321097,-115.109153
ALP-18-II	Island	Interior	55.197317,-111.698438	S056-03-RE	Reference	Edge	55.333873,-115.080626
ALP-18-RE	Reference	Edge	55.197663,-111.701233	S056-03-RI	Reference	Interior	55.333891,-115.080121
ALP-18-RI	Reference	Interior	55.197703,-111.701592	S056-05-IE	Island	Edge	55.303963,-115.034154
ALP-19-IE	Island	Edge	55.213238,-111.689193	S056-05-II	Island	Interior	55.30416,-115.033954
ALP-19-II	Island	Interior	55.21342,-111.689022	S056-05-RE	Reference	Edge	55.311594,-115.036921
ALP-19-RE	Reference	Edge	55.213967,-111.696339	S056-05-RI	Reference	Interior	55.311768,-115.036708
ALP-19-RI	Reference	Interior	55.2138,-111.696434	S056-07-IE	Island	Edge	55.278147,-115.072658
M024-03-IE	Island	Edge	56.281412,-111.54275	S056-07-II	Island	Interior	55.2783, -115.072
M024-03-II	Island	Interior	56.281383,-111.542395	S056-07-RE	Reference	Edge	55.297631,-115.061836
M024-05-IE	Island	Edge	56.275209,-111.479292	S056-07-RI	Reference	Interior	55.297715,-115.06144
M024-05-II	Island	Interior	56.27508,-111.479459	S056-08-RE	Reference	Edge	55.354256,-115.103644
M024-05-RE	Reference	Edge	56.27887,-111.485658	S056-08-RI	Reference	Interior	55.354444,-115.103644
M024-05-RI	Reference	Interior	56.278843,-111.485897	S056-10-IE	Island	Edge	55.327633,-115.01525
M024-07-IE	Island	Edge	56.29209111.574658	S056-10-II	Island	Interior	55.32771,-115.015112
M024-07-II	Island	Interior	56.291938111.574742	S056-10-RE	Reference	Edge	55.328058,-115.022955
M024-07-RE	Reference	Edge	56.289346111.58131	S056-10-RI	Reference	Interior	55.327952,-115.023257
M024-07-RI	Reference	Interior	56.289494111.581054	S056-12-IE	Island	Edge	55.322263,-115.003944
MEE-06-IE	Island	Edge	56.075134116.316069	S056-12-II	Island	Interior	55.322456,-115.004083
MEE-06-II	Island	Interior	56.074986116.316293	S056-12-RE	Reference	Edge	55.328375,-115.006833
MEE-06-RE	Reference	Edge	56.070544116.3082	S056-12-RI	Reference	Interior	55.32836,-115.007106
MFF-06-RI	Reference	Interior	56 070497 -116 308	S057-05-IE	Island	Edge	56.05535,-115.337124
MFF-09-IF	Island	Edge	56 989972 -117 056543	S057-05-II	Island	Interior	56.055298,-115.337378
MEE-09-11	Island	Interior	56 98982 -117 056633	S057-05-RE	Reference	Edge	56.050939,-115.333904
MEE-09-RF	Reference	Edge	56 997292 -117 066089	S057-05-RI	Reference	Interior	56.051011,-115.333537
MEE-09-RI	Reference	Interior	56 997442 -117 065747	S057-07-IE	Island	Edge	56.106898,-115.386439
MEE-13-IF	Island	Edge	56 988695 -117 074661	S057-07-II	Island	Interior	56.106766,-115.386713
MEE-13-II	Island	Interior	56 988545 -117 075001	S057-07-RE	Reference	Edge	56.103632,-115.383104
MEE-15-IE	Island	Edge	57 061119 -116 957634	S057-07-RI	Reference	Interior	56.103261,-115.382857
MEE-15-IL	Island	Interior	57 061109 -116 9578/6	S057-10-RE	Reference	Edge	56.057713,-115.27985
	Island	Edgo	57.001105,-110.557840	S057-10-RI	Reference	Interior	56.057963,-115.279633
	Island	Luge	50.11135,-110.514057	S057-11-IE	Island	Edge	56.072397,-115.344216
	Deference	Edge	56 100212 116 228008	S057-11-II	Island	Interior	56.072162,-115.344525
NEE-20-RE	Reference	Euge	56.100313,-116.328908	S057-11-RE	Reference	Edge	56.038836,-115.385793
MEE 21 /	Island	Edgo	50.100204,-110.323303	SU57-11-RI	Keterence	Interior	50.038878,-115.386073
IVIEE-21-1E	Island	Luge	50.15010,-110.2002U1	SU57-12-IE	Island	∟dge	56.109796,-115.324851
IVIEC-21-11	Deference	Edge	50.15612,-110.205915	5057-12-II	Island	Interior	50.109282,-115.324/49
IVIEE-21-KE	Reference	Laterier	50.140141,-116.260025	SU57-12-RE	Reference	Edge	50.10543,-115.36/932
IVIEE-21-RI	Keterence	interior	50.140247,-116.25981	5057-12-RI	Keterence	interior	50.105349,-115.368161

 Table A1: GPS coordinates of each sampling plot.

Table A2: Variance Inflation Factor	or (VIF) values for c	covariates included	l in logistic regression
models to check for multicollinearit	y. Values less than 1	.5 indicate stability	in the model.

Covariate	GVIF	Df	GVIF^(1/(2*Df))
Disturbance	1.512869	1	1.229987
Location	4.464620	3	1.283209
Species	1.142249	1	1.068761
DBH	1.151938	1	1.073284
Disturbance*Location	5.820747	3	1.341209

Table A3: summary statistics of aspen and spruce trees included in logistic regression modeling: live and dead stems, with corresponding decay class, mean diameter and range of diameters. Dead trees were determined as having died after each target disturbance, therefore there are no aspen trees of decay class 4 and no spruce trees of decay class 3 and 4 included in the modeling dataset.

Species	Life Condition	Decay Class	n	Mean DBH (cm)	DBH Range (cm)
Aspen	Live	n/a	2230	21.8	9.1-49.6
	Dead	1	89	20.5	9.3-48.1
	Dead	2	61	17.1	9.1-39.7
	Dead	3	2	31.6	30.4-32.7
	Dead	4	0		
Spruce	Live	n/a	1433	16.8	9.1-48.3
	Dead	1	38	15.3	9.2-33.4
	Dead	2	16	15.8	9.2-33.7
	Dead	3	0		
	Dead	4	0		

Species Life Condition Decay Class n Mean DBH (cm) DBH Range (cm)



Figure A1: Results of species compositions of recent downed deadwood in the same sampling plots (provided by Lance Moore) in fire disturbance (a) and harvest disturbance (b). In both reference and island remnant plots, *Populus spp.* are represented in higher amounts than *Picea spp.*, indicating that there was not an unaccounted-for flux of downed spruce that would otherwise influence results from this study.

DHARMa residual



Figure A2: Residual plot outputs from DHARMa packages. A scaled residual value of 0.5 indicates that half of the simulated data are higher than the observed value, and half of them lower, therefore we see a uniform distribution in this output. Red stars indicate simulation outliers. With no significant p-values calculated in the QQ plot residuals and uniform distribution across the x and y axis in both plot outputs, expected model outputs and observed values are similar and model goodness-of-fit is sufficient.